
AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE 
COMMITTEE

10.00 am

FRIDAY
12 OCTOBER 2018

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, 
Gloucester

MEETING PAPERS





AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
TIME: 10.00 am
DATE: Friday 12 October 2018
VENUE: Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

A G E N D A

ITEM TOPIC CONTACT

1.  Apologies Andrea Griffiths
2.  Declarations of Interest Andrea Griffiths

3.  Minutes (Pages 1 - 14) Andrea Griffiths
To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 27th July 2018.

4.  Grant Thornton External Audit Progress Report (Pages 15 - 
28) The Committee is asked to note the report.  

Peter Barber

5.  Grant Thornton Annual Audit Letter (Pages 29 - 46) Peter Barber
The Committee is asked to note the report.  

6.  Internal Audit Report & Action Plan - GFRS (Pages 47 - 62) Theresa Mortimer
The Committee is asked to consider and approve the action plan 
and approves the process for delivering the actions and the on-
going monitoring arrangements.

7.  Internal Audit Activity Progress Report 2018/19 (Pages 63 - 
96)  The Committee is asked to note the amendments to and 
progress against the 2018/2019 Internal Audit Plan.  

Theresa Mortimer

8.  Treasury Management Update Report (Pages 97 - 110) Paul Blacker
The Committee is asked to note the report.

9.  Management Update Report on IT Disaster Recovery (Pages 
111 - 114) The Committee is asked to receive the Management 
Update Report.  

Andy Gilbert

10.  Local Government Ombudsman Annual Review Letter 
2017/18 (Pages 115 - 122)

Jane Burns

To note the Local Government Ombudsman’s Annual Review 
Letter 2017/18



11.  Member Code of Conduct Review (Pages 123 - 130) Jane Burns
The Committee is asked to note the report and to indicate any 
areas for development.

12.  Exclusion of the Press and Public 
THAT in accordance with Section 100 A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 the public be excluded from the meeting for 
the business specified in agenda item 13 because it is likely that if 
members of the public were present there would be disclosure to 
them of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 and 7 of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12 A to the Act and the public interest in 
withholding the information outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information to the public.

Cllr Brian Oosthuysen

13.  Exempt Limited Assurance Reports (Pages 131 - 134) Theresa Mortimer
The Committee is asked to note the two reports.

NOTES

(a) MEMBERSHIP – Councillors Cllr Colin Hay, Vacancy, Cllr Brian Oosthuysen, 
Cllr Shaun Parsons, Cllr John Payne, Cllr Keith Rippington, 
Cllr Nigel Robbins OBE, Cllr Brian Tipper and Cllr Will Windsor-Clive

(b) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification 
about whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the 
Monitoring Officer: Jane Burns 01452 328472 /fax: 425149/e-mail: 
jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk prior to the commencement of the meeting. 

GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS

(1) Will Members please sign the attendance list.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the 
meeting please leave as directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the 
assembly point which is outside the main entrance to Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  
Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk


- 1 -

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
MINUTES of the meeting of the Audit and Governance Committee held on Friday 27 
July 2018 commencing at 10.00 am at the Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester.

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Cllr Colin Hay
Cllr Jeremy Hilton
Cllr David Norman MBE
Cllr Brian Oosthuysen 
(Chairman)

Cllr John Payne
Cllr Keith Rippington
Cllr Brian Tipper

Substitutes: Cllr Loraine Patrick & Cllr Kevin Cromwell

Apologies: Paul Blacker, Cllr Shaun  Parsons, Cllr Nigel Robbins OBE and Cllr 
Will Windsor-Clive

15. ELECTION OF VICE- CHAIRPERSON 

Nominations were called for the appointment of a Vice-Chair. Councillor Robbins 
was proposed by Councillor Hay, this was seconded by Councillor Hilton, and there 
being no other nominations for the Vice-Chair.  It was therefore:   

Resolved 

That Cllr Robbins was duly appointed as Vice-Chair for the Committee.  

16. MINUTES 

All matters arising had been dealt with and communicated to members of the 
committee.  

Resolved

That the minutes of the Audit and Governance Committee held on 6th April 
2018 be approved as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.  

17. GRANT THORNTON AUDIT FINDINGS REPORT 

Pete Barber, Engagement Lead, Grant Thornton presented the report which 
informed the Committee of the key matters arising from the audit of Gloucestershire 
County Council’s financial statements for the year ended 31st March 2018.  

The earlier production of the accounts had enabled a smoother audit process and 
allowed time for officers to provide detailed explanations when applicable. It was 
noted that there were very few amendments to the accounts, which were deemed 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

to be good and a positive step forward.  As such Grant Thornton was in a positive 
position to sign the accounts.  

Members appreciated the expertise, hard work and effort of the finance team in 
compiling the early accounts and agreed they should be congratulated on their 
exceptional effort.  The Chief Financial Officer explained her team’s position in 
preparing a complex set of accounts and the effort that had gone into producing the 
earlier set of accounts.  The Chairman reiterated members’ appreciation and also 
wished to extend thanks to Grant Thornton on behalf of the Committee.  

Mr Barber explained that Grant Thornton was still unable to issue a value for money 
conclusion at this stage until they had concluded an objection relating to the energy 
from waste scheme from the 2016/17 accounts.    Grant Thornton would finalise the 
Value for Money Opinions for 2016/17 and 2017/18 once the work on the objection 
had been concluded.   

Members were informed that overall materiality was determined to be £17.469m.  
The Committee discussed the Audit Findings in relation to the significant risks.  
It was explained that there were no issues identified that would change the 
presentation of the local authority statements. Members were advised that Grant 
Thornton did encounter issues in their testing of revaluations to ensure that they 
have been input correctly in to the Council’s asset register.  This was due to a 
system limitation not allowing the Council to reproduce a report as at 1st April 2017 
when the revaluations were entered into the system.  The extrapolated differences 
identified were below triviality.  Grant Thornton made a recommendation for 
management regarding this to ensure the council was able to maintain a robust 
audit trail which provided appropriate audit evidence for the revaluation movements.

It was noted that the Council continued to experience significant demand pressures 
particularly in Children and Families and Adult Services.  These areas continued to 
be a focus for the Council.  It was reported that the Children and Families service 
area had a net overspend of £6.37million in 2017/18, with continued increasing 
demand for social care and actions required following the Ofsted Inspection placing 
further strains on the services budget. 

 It was noted that the cost of implementing the Children’s Improvement Plan totalled 
£2.68million in 2017/18, of which £1.47million was funded from within the service 
area using one-off funding and £1.21million funded from the transformation reserve.  
The Adults service area reported an underspend of £2.63million in 2017/18, with a 
resulting £0.71million transfer into a new people services reserve given the volatility 
in demand for both Adults and Children’s social care.  

In response to a question, Mr Barber explained that Grant Thornton would continue 
to monitor and review the situation after the Ofsted Inspection.  
 
The narrative report for the 2017-18 financial statements was comprehensive and 
met the requirements of the code.  The report was deemed to be clear and 
informative.  

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

The Committee was informed that Internal Audit and Grant Thornton had ongoing 
dialogue throughout the financial year. Grant Thornton confirmed that the accounts 
had been prepared in accordance with the accounting code of practice.  The total 
indicative fee for the audit for 2017/18 was £98,010.  

In response to a question, it was noted that the Authority had not prevented Grant 
Thornton from accessing any information they required, in their efforts to investigate 
the objection to the accounts.  The External Auditor explained they were 
disappointed that they had not been able to conclude the objection at this stage, as 
further legal advice was required.    The Committee noted that Grant Thornton 
would work tirelessly to conclude the objection. It was noted that the delay was due 
to the objector’s concern relating to their own access to the information.  

Mr Barber informed the Committee that in terms of reserves, every council set their 
own figures in relation to risk assessment and that there was lots of commonality 
between councils.  As such, Grant Thornton had concluded that the level of 
reserves for GCC were appropriate.  

In response to a question, Mr Barber informed the Committee that business rates 
were an area of uncertainty and only one form of council funding.  Officers 
explained that the volatility of business rates was included on the Risk Register.  

At this point, there was an outburst from a member of the public.

RESOLVED

That the report be noted.

AUDIT FINDINGS: PENSION FUND REPORT 

Peter Barber, Engagement Lead, Grant Thornton presented the report. The report 
highlighted the key issues arising from the audit of Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
financial statements for the year end 31st March 2018.

Members were informed that Grant Thornton had identified no adjustments that 
affected the Funds reported financial position.  It was anticipated that an unqualified 
opinion would be issued on the funds financial statements.  It was noted that the 
overall materiality for the Pension Fund audit for 2017/18 was £23,799.

The performance of the fund was the responsibility of the Pensions Committee.   It 
was noted that the auditors did not provide a separate value for money conclusion 
on the Pension Fund. 

The Director of Strategic Finance added she had great pride in the Finance and 
Pensions teams and their ability to achieve the challenge set in producing an earlier 
set of accounts for the County Council and the Pension Fund. Members also 
wished to record their appreciation and congratulated the team on their hard work 
and efforts.  

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

Resolved 

That the report be noted.

18. GRANT THORNTON AUDIT FEE LETTER 

Peter Barber, Grant Thornton presented the report, which informed the Committee 
of the audit work to be undertaken for the 2018/19 financial year for Gloucestershire 
County Council and the fee involved. It was noted that the Council’s scale fee for 
2018/19 had been set by the Public Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA) at £75,468 
and the Pension Fund Audit would be £18,325.   
  
Resolved

That the report be noted.

19. ANNUAL STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 

Jayne Fuller, Corporate Finance Manager presented the report in detail.  It was 
explained that the draft accounts were produced and presented for audit on 31st 
May 2018.  The Director of Strategic Finance approved this Statement of Accounts 
for 2017/18.  By doing so the Director of Strategic Finance confirmed the accounts 
presented a true and fair view of the Council’s financial position as at 31st March 
2018 and the income and expenditure for the year.  

In accordance with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, the draft accounts 
were available for public inspection for 30 working days, which was required to 
include the first two weeks of July. The inspection period for 2017-18 was from 1st 
June 2018 to 12th July 2018. It was noted that this included access via the 
Council’s website.

A number of minor changes and updates agreed with Grant Thornton have been 
incorporated into the statement of accounts. It is important to emphasis that these 
amendments did not change the Council’s outturn position approved by Cabinet in 
June 2018 or the level of usable reserves or balances reported in the balance 
sheet.
 
Members were provided with a detailed accounts training session on 18th July 
2018, which provided members with an opportunity to ask detailed questions about 
the accounts.

The summary report was intended to draw members’ attention to the key pieces of 
financial and accounting information contained within the Council’s Statement of 
Accounts. Therefore, this information should be considered in conjunction with the 
explanatory foreword of the 2017/18 Statement of Accounts.  

During the discussion, a member requested that in relation to the income and 
expenditure statement, it would be beneficial to see what amount each service 
received for its initial budget on a year on year basis, including fees, income 

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

generated, etc.  It would assist members with their understanding and inform their 
questioning around the budget process and any trends e.g. income increases and 
decreases.  The Director of Finance explained this point had been raised at OSMC 
and the request was being actioned as part of the MTFS process.  

In response to a question, the Director of Strategic Finance referred members to 
Pages 150 - 153 of the report, which detailed the breakdown of salaries and staffing 
costs for senior officers.  In response to a further question, Members were advised 
that the previous Director of Children’s Services had reached the retirement age 
and decided to retire as per her entitlement.  A footnote on page 151 of the report, 
detailed the retirement in the accounts provided transparency.  It was explained that 
a member of staff who reached the statutory retirement age was entitled to retire if 
they wished to.  In response to a further question, it was noted that the 
appointments committee purely dealt with appointments and dismissals of the 
council’s most senior officers.    
 
It was noted that officers should be congratulated on their efforts to produce the 
accounts in a timely manner, whilst responding to a shorter deadline.   It was noted 
that all the issues had been publicly spoken about and the Authority was open and 
transparent.  

It was agreed that the Committee formally approved the Statement of Accounts and 
the Chairman of the Audit and Governance Committee signed the letter of 
representation on behalf of the Authority and Gloucestershire Pension Fund.  

Resolved 

That the Committee formally approved the statement of accounts year ending 
31st March 2018.  

That the Chairman of the Audit and Governance Committee and the Director 
of Strategic Finance signed the letter of representation on behalf of the 
Authority and Gloucestershire Pension Fund

20. ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 2017/18/LOCAL CODE OF 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 2017/18/COUNCIL WIDE ASSURANCE MAP 
2017/18 

Theresa Mortimer, Chief Internal Auditor (CIA), presented the report.  It was 
explained that the Council was required under the Accounts and Audit Regulations 
2015 to produce an Annual Governance Statement (AGS) which was a public 
statement, detailing how the Council directs and controls its resources, which is 
signed by the Leader of the Council, Chief Executive and Director of Strategic 
Finance. It was noted that the AGS was published alongside the Annual Statement 
of Accounts.  

Members were informed that GCC operate through a governance framework that 
had been summarised within a revised Local Code of Corporate Governance 
2017/2018 and a Council Wide Governance Assurance Map, which was consistent 

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

with the seven core principles of the CIPFA/SOLACE Delivering Good Governance 
in Local Government framework, 2016 edition.  

The CIA explained the Council’s Local Code of Corporate Governance was a public 
statement of the Council's commitment to these principles and specifically identified 
the key actions taken by GCC in relation to each of the core principles. It was noted 
that the code was reviewed and updated annually and should be read in 
conjunction with the AGS. 

The CIA explained that to enable the development of the AGS, an embedded 
assurance framework was required, that not only provided the relevant assurances, 
but also a framework that underpinned and evidenced the statements made within 
the AGS. 

A strengthened governance assurance process was implemented and provided a 
framework for the annual assessment of the effectiveness of the governance 
arrangements operating within the Council. This included the relevant Lead Cabinet 
Member overview and oversight, governance assurance statements obtained from 
Directors and Heads of Service

The CIA referred the Committee to page 233 of the report, which detailed the 
Council’s Governance Assurance Framework i.e. the three lines of defence model, 
which supports effective governance arrangements.  In response to a question, it 
was noted that Cabinet Members were a key part of the governance assurance 
arrangements i.e. the second line of defence, providing oversight of governance 
arrangements.  

Members were informed that the key 2017/2018 improvement areas identified to 
further enhance the governance arrangements, related to:
1. Future Financial Sustainability;
2. Ofsted Inspection of Children’s Services; 
3. Contracting / Commissioning Care Services; and
4. New CIPFA guidance on Audit Committees. 

It was noted that new CIPFA guidance was due to be published and the CIA would 
review the guidance and would support the Audit and Governance Committee to 
evaluate itself against the revised guidance and make recommendations for 
improvements where necessary.   

The CIA explained that the Committee would receive management updates on 
actions taken to address the governance issues identified to the January 2019 
Committee meeting.  

Members were reminded that the CIA had provided a detailed presentation on the 
AGS and the Local Code of Corporate Governance at the training session on 18th 
July 2018.  

In response to a question, members were informed that whilst there were generic 
principles/assessments that were required to be covered within the statement, the 

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

AGS included reference to all the key governance issues that were identified as 
part of the 2017/2018 annual review.

The Director of Strategic Finance added that since the signing of the AGS, a whistle 
blowing allegation covering probity issues in the Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue 
Service had been received by the Council. This has resulted in an investigation by 
Internal Audit.  On completion of this investigation, Internal Audit will report to 
management outlining recommendations, which will form the basis of an action 
plan. This action plan and progress against it will be overseen by the Audit and 
Governance Committee, thereby providing the relevant assurances that these 
recommendations are being addressed in a timely manner. 

This report and action plan will be presented at the October 2018 Audit and 
Governance Committee.  The Committee agreed that this action should be included 
within the AGS action plan. (Action – TM) 

The Committee referred to the Council Wide Assurance Map and the red, green, 
amber indicators. Some members questioned the reliability of the management 
assessments provided.   Members felt that lessons needed to be learnt and it was 
essential that officers were open and transparent when completing the Assurance 
Statement questions.  

The Committee discussed the gaps in service as recognised by the Ofsted 
inspection, members felt if all the areas were marked as green then it would present 
an untrue and unrealistic picture of the service and could raise serious questions, 
particularly in terms of safeguarding.  The Director of Strategic Finance added that 
not all areas in terms of Children’s services were green and the Authority was on a 
journey to improve.  

In response to a question, it was noted that the assurance map questions were not 
in a hierarchical order, the CIA added that it was not within her remit to prioritise the 
principles as they are based on CIPFA/SOLACE guidance and all had equal status.  

The CIA explained that Internal Audit would include within the annual audit plan 
2019/2020 an audit on testing the adequacy of the statements made within a 
selected sample of the assurance statements, to provide the Committee with the 
independence assurance on their integrity. Members welcomed this approach 
proposed.  (Action – TM/JW)

The CIA reaffirmed that the AGS was a high level statement of the governance 
arrangements operating within the Council and that the AGS and associated action 
plan is underpinned by a governance assurance framework i.e. the three lines of 
defence model. In respect of children services, the Committee’s attention was 
referred to Page 246 of the report, which provided detailed information in relation to 
the actions taken in relation to the Ofsted report.    

In response to a question, the CIA explained that the AGS interlinked with the Risk 
Management activity arrangements, which would highlight any red residual risks.  

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

The risk register was being monitored by the Overview Scrutiny Management 
Committee.  

During the discussion, a member asked if the Council had cultural issues in one 
service area, how officers/members would know if the Council had similar cultural 
issues within other service areas.  Discussions were then held in relation to the 
whistle blowing policy.  The Director of Strategic Finance explained that whistle 
blowing forms part of the Council’s governance arrangements and enables 
employees to speak up if they feel something is not right. The Monitoring Officer 
added that all whistle blowing allegations were taken seriously and acted upon 
swiftly.   

The Committee was reminded that the Statement of Accounts and AGS should be 
read in conjunction to give a balanced view.  

During the discussion, members agreed that the Committee would receive updates 
on the AGS actions taken to address the issues identified, at the January 2019 
Committee meeting.   

It was agreed, to accept the Annual Governance Statement and Local Code of 
Corporate Governance 2017/18, subject to the inclusion of the additional GFRS 
action as agreed, within the AGS Action Plan.  

Resolved 

That the Committee reviewed and approved the Annual Governance 
Statement and Local Code of Corporate Governance 2017/18, and the 
inclusion of the GFRS action as agreed, within the AGS Action Plan.  

That the Committee would receive an update on actions taken to address the 
governance issues identified, at the January 2019 Committee meeting.

21. ANNUAL REPORT TREASURY MANAGEMENT 

Kathy Oakey, Finance Manager, explained that each year the Council produced an 
Annual Report covering its Treasury Management activities for the financial year 
ending 31st March.  The annual report for 2017/18 was submitted to the Audit and 
Governance Committee to allow greater scrutiny under the Treasury Management 
Code.  

The Committee were advised that the Treasury Management Strategy and the 
Annual Investment Strategy were agreed by full Council as part of the annual 
budget setting process.  The Committee discussed the report in great detail.  

It was explained that significant amounts of money were involved in Treasury 
Management with a borrowing and investing programme in excess of £300m.  
Despite turbulent and uncertain market conditions and a low interest rate 
environment, the Council had managed to maintain a good level of interest return 
on investment, achieving £3.9m (1.18%).  

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

This has been partly achieved by diversifying the investments and reviewing the 
duration of investments.  The Council has locked into longer term deals, made use 
of two Housing Association counterparties, which pay at a higher rate than other 
local authorities, and opened several funds which offer a greater return whilst 
diversifying financial instrument exposure.  Despite these changes the Council has 
still maintained liquidity, with the percentage invested for over 12 months being 
37%.  In addition, the Council continued to reduce the risk of “bail-in” exposure to 
unsecured bank and building society deposits with levels falling from 28% to 21%.

On the borrowing side it was reported that early redemption still remained 
expensive, so the Council had not been able to redeem any loan early during the 
year other than maturing loans.  All the maturing loans had been repaid in full 
(£8.34m) during the year and the overall borrowing requirement had been reduced 
to £302.1m.  

It was noted that the Council complied with all the limits set for borrowing and 
investment as laid down by the prudential indicators as stated in Appendix E.   

RESOLVED

That the Committee considered and noted the Treasury Management Annual 
Report for 2017/18.

22. ANNUAL REPORT ON RISK MANAGEMENT ACTIVITY 2017/18 

Theresa Mortimer, Chief Internal Auditor detailed the Risk Management (RM) 
activities undertaken during 2017/2018. The key activities to highlight were 
summarised which included the revision of the RM strategy, guidance toolkit, 
training, and project management support.  

Members were informed that the requirements of the strategy was that Risk 
Management continued to be fully integrated into key business systems and 
processes such as performance,  option appraisals, business planning, financial 
planning and decision making processes.  It was essential that Risk Management 
continued to be one of the key mandatory standards within the Council’s corporate 
programme and project management governance arrangements.

The CIA explained that a risk appetite model was used as part of the risk and 
opportunity decision making processes to help the Council be less risk averse and 
enable the Council to understand which risks it could be willing to accept.  In 
addition, the leadership behaviours also encouraged calculated risk taking.

The report demonstrated that CoMT continued to take ownership of the strategic 
risk register, with each of the strategic risks being owned by a CoMT member. The 
Committee noted that the Strategic Risk Register was dynamic with quarterly 
strategic risk management reports provided to CoMT, Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Committee and Cabinet, to enable challenge and to gain ongoing 
assurance that the Council’s strategic risks were being effectively managed. 

Page 9



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 10 -

It was noted that the CIA facilitated risk workshops with CoMT to review the 
Strategic Risk Register to ensure it reflected the Council’s current risk profile.  
Member’s attention was drawn to a summary of the Strategic Risk Register 
attached to the report.  

Resolved 

That the Committee noted the Annual Report on the Corporate Risk 
Management arrangements in place during 2017/18.  

The Committee endorsed the proposals for future improvement and 
development as set out in the report.

That the Committee concluded that the arrangements for managing risk 
within the Council were sound.  

23. ANNUAL REPORT ON INTERNAL AUDIT ACTIVITY 2017/18. 

Theresa Mortimer, Chief Internal Auditor (CIA) presented the Committee with an 
annual report on Internal Audit activity, which met the CIA annual reporting 
requirements as set out in Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 2017 (PSIAS).  

The report provided an annual opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of 
the Council’s Internal Control environment comprising risk management, control 
and governance, this opinion supported the Council’s Annual Governance 
Statement. Members felt the report displayed the wide remit of activities that 
Internal Audit covered.  

Members were referred to page 324 of the report, where a ‘Satisfactory’ opinion 
was provided by the CIA. It was explained that the report provided information on 
what was taken into account to arrive at the opinion.   It was confirmed that there 
had been no limitations on internal audits scope.  The CIA provided a summary of 
IA activity undertaken, with the net affect being that 92% of the overall revised plan 
had been delivered.  Members were advised that the key changes were as a result 
of the number of irregularity work undertaken. 

Member’s attention was drawn to page 329 of the report, which provided the 
Committee with a pie chart summary of the overall opinions given during 
2017/2018.    The CIA demonstrated that 82% of audited activity received a 
substantial or satisfactory opinion on control and 86% received on risk.  The 
Committee noted the spreadsheet which provided a summary of the activity 
undertaken from which the CIA’s opinion was derived.

The Committee were referred to the summary of counter fraud activity undertaken 
during the year, such as work on special investigations, participation in the National 
Fraud Initiative Data matching exercise, update and review of the Council’s anti 
fraud polices and compliance with the Local Government Transparency Code 2015 

Page 10



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 11 -

fraud and irregularity reporting requirements and working with Gloucestershire 
Fraud Hub to support counter fraud work.  

In terms of Internal Audit Effectiveness, the CIA explained that the PSIAS required 
the CIA to annually report on conformance with the PSIAS, reporting any non 
conformance and to summarise the performance of the Internal Audit function.  The 
CIA was pleased to report that following an external quality assessment by the 
Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors (national standard setters) the Authority 
received 100% conformance.

On a positive note, it was reported that at the end of each audit review Internal 
Audit request customer feedback. Members were referred to the overview of 
customer satisfaction survey results, all categories of assessment exceeded 
Internal Audit’s target of 80% as good or excellent. It was noted that the positive 
comments received could be found on pages 337 – 339 of the report.  

The CIA added there were always lessons to be learned and customer feedback 
was used to ensure that Internal Audit fully considered where improvements could 
be made. As such, individual staff targets had been set to assist with achieving any 
improvements identified.

The Committee was provided with a progress report in relation to those audits 
undertaken during the period April – June 2018.  Members’ attention was drawn to 
limited assurance opinions provided on control relating to Schools. It was noted that 
whilst management had accepted and responded positively to the 
recommendations made, Internal Audit would continue to monitor their 
implementation.  In response to a question, it was noted that five out of the seven 
schools referred to were maintained primary schools.  

During the discussion, one member made reference to the ICT disaster recovery 
audit being deemed as satisfactory, it was noted that some members disagreed 
strongly with this statement given the audit findings.  The CIA explained that there 
was a positive direction of travel and had agreed with management a timeline and a 
deadline for improvement actions to be completed by.  Some members questioned 
this decision, as they felt at the time of writing the report it should have been 
deemed as limited assurance as the actions had not yet been completed.  The CIA 
recognised their concerns and it was recommended that management attend the 
next meeting of the Committee to provide an update on the actions taken in relation 
to the recommendations made. The Committee welcomed this approach.  (Action – 
TM) 

Resolved 

That the Committee assessed, from the findings set out in the report that it 
could take reasonable assurance that the internal control environment, 
comprising of risk management, control and governance was operating 
effectively.

Page 11



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 12 -

That senior management attend the next meeting of the Committee to provide 
an update on the actions taken in relation to the recommendations made in 
the ICT Disaster Recovery audit report.

That the Committee noted that the performance of Internal Audit met the 
required standards.

24. EXCLUSION OF THE  PRESS & PUBLIC 

THAT in accordance with Section 100 A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 
the public be excluded from the meeting for the business specified in minute 
26 because it is likely that if members of the public were present there would 
be disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 
1 of Schedule 12 A to the Act and the public interest in withholding the 
information outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information to the 
public.

25. EXEMPT LIMITED ASSURANCE REPORT 

The Committee received and discussed the report in detail.  

Resolved 

That the report be noted.

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 11.47 am

Page 12



Audit & Governance Committee – 27th July 2018

Topic Action Responsibility Progress
1 ANNUAL 

GOVERNANCE 
STATEMENT (AGS) 
(Additional Action)

GOVERNANCE 
ASSURANCE 
STATEMENTS

The Committee agreed an addendum to the 
AGS action plan relating to a whistleblowing 
allegation covering probity issues in 
Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service. The 
internal audit report and action plan will be 
presented at the 12th October 2018 Audit and 
Governance Committee.  

Internal Audit would include within the annual 
audit plan 2019/2020 an audit on testing the 
adequacy of the statements made within a 
selected sample of the assurance statements.  

Theresa Mortimer 

Theresa Mortimer

Internal Audit to present the report 
and action plan at the 12th October 
2018 Audit and Governance 
Committee

To be included within the 
2019/2020 Risk Based Internal 
Audit Plan

2 ANNUAL REPORT ON 
INTERNAL AUDIT 
ACTIVITY 2017/18

The Chief Internal Auditor recognised members 
concerns in relation to ICT disaster recovery  
and recommended that management attend the 
next meeting of the Committee to provide an 
update on the actions taken in relation to the 
recommendations made.

Theresa Mortimer Management to attend the 12th 
October 2018 Audit and 
Governance Committee

P
age 13



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Audit Progress Report and Sector Update

Gloucestershire County Council

Year ending 31 March 2019

October 2018

P
age 15

A
genda Item

 4



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | September 2018

Contents

Section Page

Introduction 3

Progress at October 2018 4

Audit Deliverables 5

Sector Update 6

Links 13

2

P
age 16



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | September 2018

This paper provides the Audit and Governance Committee with a report on 

progress in delivering our responsibilities as your external auditors. 

The paper includes:

• a summary of emerging national issues and developments that may be relevant to you as a local authority which 

the Committee may wish to consider.

Members of the Audit and Governance Committee can find further useful material on our website, where we have a 

section dedicated to our work in the public sector. Here you can download copies of our publications

www.grant-thornton.co.uk

If you would like further information on any items in this briefing, or would like to register with Grant Thornton to 

receive regular email updates on issues that are of interest to you, please contact either your Engagement Lead or 

Engagement Manager.

-government--transitioning-successfully/

Introduction

3

Peter Barber

Engagement Lead

T 0117 305 7897

M 07800456122

E peter.a.barber@uk.gt.com

Katie Whybray

Engagement Manager

T 0117 305 7601

M   07854791260

E katie.v.whybray@uk.gt.com

P
age 17

http://www.grant-thornton.co.uk/


© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | September 2018

2018/19 Audit

We have begun our planning processes for the 2018/19 

financial year audit. 

Our detailed work and audit visits will begin later in the 

year and we will discuss the timing of these visits with 

management. In the meantime we will:

• continue to hold regular discussions with 

management to inform our risk assessment for the 

2018/19 financial statements and value for money 

audits;

• review minutes and papers from key meetings; and

• continue to review relevant sector updates to ensure 

that we capture any emerging issues and consider 

these as part of audit plans.

Progress at October 2018

4

Other areas

Certification of claims and returns

We will be auditing two 2017/18 claims which fall outside 

of the PSAA regime

- Teacher’s Pension certification (deadline end of 

November)

- Local Authority Major Schemes certification (deadline 

end of December)

Meetings

We continue to be in discussions with finance staff 

regarding emerging developments and to ensure the 

audit process is smooth and effective. We have recently 

had a wash up meeting with officers to discuss the 

2017/18 audit and to begin looking forward to the 

2018/19 audit. We have also been in discussions with 

your Internal Auditors regarding how we can work 

together going forward. 

Events

We provide a range of workshops and publications to 

support the Council. Our next event is our Chief 

Accountants workshop which will take place in the new 

year to support the production of the 2018/19 financial 

statements. Further details of the publications that may 

be of interest to the Council are set out in our Sector 

Update section of this report.

2017/18 Audit

At the Audit and Governance Committee in July we 

issued:

• An unqualified opinion on the Council’s financial 

statements.

Due to the outstanding 2016/17 objection, we have 

not issued our value for money opinion for 2017/18 

and have not issued our Audit Certificate. 

We are continuing to work towards resolving this 

complex objection as quickly as possible, whilst at 

the same time ensuring that the process we follow is 

fair to both parties – the objectors and the Council.

We completed our audit review of the whole of 

governments accounts submission by the deadline of 

the 31 August.

We have received a draft version of the pension 

annual report and our audit review of this will be 

undertaken in October.

Our Annual Audit Letter, summarising the outcomes 

of our audit is included as a separate agenda item.

.

P
age 18



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | September 2018

Audit Deliverables

5

2018/19 Deliverables Planned Date Status

Fee Letter 

Confirming audit fee for 2018/19.

April 2018 Complete

Accounts Audit Plan

We are required to issue a detailed accounts audit plan to the Audit and Governance Committee setting out our 

proposed approach in order to give an opinion on the Council’s 2018-19 financial statements.

January 2019 Not yet due

Interim Audit Findings

We will report to you the findings from our interim audit and our initial value for money risk assessment within 

our Progress Report.

March 2019 Not yet due

Audit Findings Report

The Audit Findings Report will be reported to the July Audit and Governance Committee.

July 2019 Not yet due

Auditors Report

This is the opinion on your financial statement, annual governance statement and value for money conclusion.

July 2019 Not yet due

Annual Audit Letter

This letter communicates the key issues arising from our work.

August 2019 Not yet due

P
age 19



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | September 2018

Local government finances are at a tipping point. 

Councils are tackling a continuing drive to 

achieve greater efficiency in the delivery of 

public services, whilst facing the challenges to 

address rising demand, ongoing budget 

pressures and social inequality.

Our sector update provides you with an up to date summary of 

emerging national issues and developments to support you. We 

cover areas which may have an impact on your organisation, the 

wider local government sector and the public sector as a whole. 

Links are provided to the detailed report/briefing to allow you to 

delve further and find out more. 

Our public sector team at Grant Thornton also undertake research 

on service and technical issues. We will bring you the latest 

research publications in this update. We also include areas of 

potential interest to start conversations within the organisation and 

with Audit and Governance committee members, as well as any 

accounting and regulatory updates. 

Sector Update

6

More information can be found on our dedicated public sector and local 

government sections on the Grant Thornton website

• Grant Thornton Publications

• Insights from local  government sector 

specialists

• Reports of interest

• Accounting and regulatory updates

P
age 20



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | September 2018

CIPFA consultation – Financial Resilience Index

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 

(CIPFA) has consulted on its plans to provide an authoritative 

measure of local authority financial resilience via a new 

index. The index, based on publically available information, 

will provide an assessment of the relative financial health of 

each English council.

CIPFA has designed the index to provide reassurance to councils who are financially stable 

and prompt challenge where it may be needed. To understand the sector’s views, CIPFA 

invited all interested parties to respond to questions it has put forward in the consultation by 

the 24 August.

The decision to develop an index is driven by CIPFA’s desire to support the local 

government sector as it faces a continued financial challenge. The index will not be a 

predictive model but a diagnostic tool – designed to identify those councils displaying 

consistent and comparable features that will highlight good practice, but crucially, also point 

to areas which are associated with financial failure. The information for each council will 

show their relative position to other councils of the same type. Use of the index will support 

councils in identifying areas of weakness and enable them to take action to reduce the risk of 

financial failure. The index will also provide a transparent and independent analysis based 

on a sound evidence base.

The proposed approach draws on CIPFA’s evidence of the factors associated with financial 

stress, including: 

• running down reserves 

• failure to plan and deliver savings in service provision 

• shortening medium-term financial planning horizons. 

• gaps in saving plans 

• departments having unplanned overspends and/or undelivered savings. 

Conversations with senior practitioners and sector experts have elicited a number of 

additional potential factors, including: 

• the dependency on external central financing 

• the proportion of non-discretionary spending – e.g. social care and capital financing - as a 

proportion of total expenditure 

• an adverse (inadequate) judgement by Ofsted on Children’s services 

• changes in accounting policies (including a change by the council of their minimum 

revenue provision) 

• poor returns on investments 

• low level of confidence in financial management. 

The consultation document proposes scoring six key indicators:

1. The level of total reserves excluding schools and public health as a proportion of net 

revenue expenditure. 

2. The percentage change in reserves, excluding schools and public health, over the past 

three years. 

3. The ratio of government grants to net revenue expenditure. 

4. Proportion of net revenue expenditure accounted for by children’s social care, adult 

social care and debt interest payments. 

5. Ofsted overall rating for children’s social care. 

6. Auditor’s VFM judgement. 

7

P
age 21



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | September 2018

MHCLG – Social Housing Green Paper

The Green Paper presents the opportunity to look afresh at the regulatory framework (which 

was last reviewed nearly eight years ago). Alongside this, MHCLG have published a Call for 

Evidence which seeks views on how the current regulatory framework is operating and will 

inform what regulatory changes are required to deliver regulation that is fit for purpose.

The Green Paper acknowledges that to deliver the social homes required, local authorities 

will need support to build by:

• allowing them to borrow

• exploring new flexibilities over how to spend Right to Buy receipts

• not requiring them to make a payment in respect of their vacant higher value council 

homes

As a result of concerns raised by residents, MHCLG has decided not to implement at this 

time the provisions in the Housing and Planning Act to make fixed term tenancies mandatory 

for local authority tenants.

The Green Paper is available on the MHCLG’s website at: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/a-new-deal-for-social-housing

8

The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 

(MHCLG) published the Social Housing Green Paper, which 

seeks views on government’s new vision for social housing 

providing safe, secure homes that help people get on with 

their lives. 

With 4 million households living in social housing and projections for this to rise annually, it is 

crucial that MHCLG tackle the issues facing both residents and landlords in social housing.

The Green Paper aims to rebalance the relationship between residents and landlords, tackle 

stigma and ensure that social housing can be both a stable base that supports people when 

they need it and also support social mobility. The paper proposes fundamental reform to 

ensure social homes provide an essential, safe, well managed service for all those who need 

it.

To shape this Green Paper, residents across the country were asked for their views on 

social housing. Almost 1,000 tenants shared their views with ministers at 14 events across 

the country, and over 7,000 people contributed their opinions, issues and concerns online; 

sharing their thoughts and ideas about social housing,

The Green Paper outlines five principles which will underpin a new, fairer deal for social 

housing residents:

• Tackling stigma and celebrating thriving communities

• Expanding supply and supporting home ownership

• Effective resolution of complaints

• Empowering residents and strengthening the regulator

• Ensuring homes are safe and decent

Consultation on the Green Paper is now underway, which seeks to provide everyone with an 

opportunity to submit views on proposals for the future of social housing and will run until 6 

November 2018.

P
age 22

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/a-new-deal-for-social-housing


© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | September 2018

Institute of Fiscal Studies: Impact of ‘Fair 
Funding Review’

The IFS has published a paper that focuses on the issues 

arising in assessing the spending needs of different councils. 

The government’s ‘Fair Funding Review’ is aimed at 

designing a new system for allocating funding between 

councils. It will update and improve methods for estimating 

councils’ differing abilities to raise revenues and their differing 

spending needs. The government is looking for the new 

system to be simple and transparent, but at the same time 

robust and evidence based.

Accounting for councils’ spending needs

The IFS note that the Review is seeking a less subjective and more transparent 

approach which is focused on the relationship between spending and needs 

indicators. However, like any funding system, there will be limitations, for example, 

any attempt to assess needs will be affected by the MHCLG’s funding policies 

adopted in the year of data used to estimate the spending needs formula.  A key 

consideration will be the inherently subjective nature of ‘spending needs’ and ‘needs 

indicators’, and how this will be dealt with under any new funding approach. Whilst 

no assessment of spending needs can be truly objective, the IFS state it can and 

should be evidence based.

The IFS also note that transparency will be critical, particularly in relation to the 

impact that different choices will have for different councils, such as the year of data 

used and the needs indicators selected. These differentiating factors and their 

consequences will need to be understood and debated.

9

Accounting for councils’ revenues 

The biggest source of locally-raised revenue for councils is and will continue to be 

council tax. However, there is significant variation between councils in the amount 

of council tax raised per person. The IFS identify that a key decision for the Fair 

Funding Review is the extent wo which tax bases or actual revenues should be 

used for determining funding levels going forward.

Councils also raise significant sums of money from levying fees and charges, 

although this varies dramatically across the country. The IFS note that it is difficult 

to take account of these differences in a new funding system as there is no well-

defined measure of revenue raising capacity from sales, fees and charges, unlike 

council tax where the tax base can be used.

The overall system: redistribution, incentives 

and transparency

The IFS also identify that an important policy 

decision for the new system is the extent to which it 

prioritises redistribution between councils, compared 

to financial incentives for councils to improve their 

own socio-economic lot. A system that fully and 

immediately equalises for differences in assessed 

spending needs and revenue-raising capacity will 

help ensure different councils can provide similar 

standards of public services, However, it would 

provide little financial incentive for councils to tackle 

the drivers of spending needs and boost local 

economics and tax bases. 

Further detail on the impact of the fair funding review 

can be found in the full report 

https://www.ifs.org.uk/uploads/publications/comms/R

148.pdf.

P
age 23

https://www.ifs.org.uk/uploads/publications/comms/R148.pdf


© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | September 2018

National Audit Office – The health and social care 
interface

The NAO has published its latest ‘think piece on the barriers 

that prevent health and social care services working together 

effectively, examples of joint working in a ‘whole system’ 

sense and the move towards services centred on the needs 

of the individual. The report aims to inform the ongoing 

debate about the future of health and social care in England. 

It anticipates the upcoming green paper on the future funding 

of adult social care, and the planned 2019 Spending Review, 

which will set out the funding needs of both local government 

and the NHS. 

The report discusses 16 challenges to improved joint working. It also highlights some of the 

work being carried out nationally and locally to overcome these challenges and the progress 

that has been made. The NAO draw out the risks presented by inherent differences between 

the health and social care systems and how national and local bodies are managing these.

Financial challenges – include financial pressures, future funding uncertainties, focus on 

short-term funding issues in the acute sector, the accountability of individual organisations to 

balance the books, and differing eligibility criteria for access to health and social care 

services.  

Culture and structure – include organisational boundaries impacting on service 

management and regulation, poor understanding between the NHS and local government of 

their respective decision-making frameworks, complex governance arrangements hindering 

decision-making, problems with local leadership holding back improvements or de-stabilising 

joint working, a lack of co-terminus geographic areas over which health and local 

government services are planned and delivered, problems with sharing data across health 

and social care, and difficulties developing. person-centred care.

Strategic issues – include differences in national influence and status contributing to social 

care not being as well represented as the NHS, strategic misalignment of organisations 

across local systems inhibiting joint local planning, and central government’s unrealistic 

expectations of the pace at which the required change in working practices can progress..

This ‘think piece’ draws on the NAO’s past work and draws on recent research and reviews 

by other organisations, most notably the Care Quality Commission’s review of health and 

social care systems in 20 local authority areas, which it carried out between August 2017 

and May 2018. The NAO note  that there is a lot of good work being done nationally and 

locally to overcome the barriers to joint working, but often this is not happening at the scale 

and pace needed.

The report is available to download from the NAO’s website at: 

https://www.nao.org.uk/report/the-health-and-social-care-interface/

10

P
age 24

https://www.nao.org.uk/report/the-health-and-social-care-interface/


© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | September 2018

Care Homes for the Elderly – Where are we now?

It is a pivotal moment for the UK care homes market. In the 

next few months the government is to reveal the contents of 

its much-vaunted plans for the long-term funding of care for 

older people. 

Our latest Grant Thornton report draws together the most recent and relevant research, 

including our own sizeable market knowledge and expertise, to determine where the sector 

is now and understand where it is heading in the future. We have spoken to investors, 

providers and market consultants to showcase the diversity and innovation that care homes 

can offer.

Flourishing communities are not a ‘nice to have’ but an essential part of our purpose of 

shaping a vibrant economy. Growth simply cannot happen sustainably if business is 

disconnected from society. That is why social care needs a positive growth framing. Far 

from being a burden, the sector employs more people than the NHS, is a crucible for 

technological innovation, and is a vital connector in community life. We need to think about 

social care as an asset and invest and nurture it accordingly. 

There are opportunities to further invest to create innovative solutions that deliver improved 

tailored care packages to meet the needs of our ageing population. 

The report considers a number of aspects in the social care agenda

• market structure, sustainability, quality and evolution

• future funding changes and the political agenda

• the investment, capital and financing landscape

• new funds and methods of finance

• future outlook.

The decline in the number of public-sector focused care home beds is a trend that looks 

set to continue in the medium-term. However, it cannot continue indefinitely as Grant 

Thornton's research points to a significant rise in demand for elderly care beds over the 

coming decade and beyond.

A strategic approach will also be needed to recruit and retain the large number of workers 

needed to care for the ageing population in the future. Efforts have already begun through 

education programmes such as Skills for Care’s 'Care Ambassadors' to promote social 

care as an attractive profession. But with the number of nurses falling across the NHS as 

well, the Government will need to address the current crisis.

But the most important conversation that needs to be had is with the public around what 

kind of care services they would like to have and, crucially, how much they would be 

prepared to pay for them. Most solutions for sustainable funding for social care point 

towards increased taxation, which will generate significant political and public debate. With 

Brexit dominating the political agenda, and the government holding a precarious position in 

Parliament, shorter-term funding interventions by government over the medium-term look 

more likely than a root-and-branch reform of the current system. The sector, however, 

needs to know what choices politicians, and society as a whole, are prepared to make in 

order to plan for the future. 

Copies of our report can be requested on our website

11

P
age 25

https://www.grantthornton.co.uk/globalassets/1.-member-firms/united-kingdom/pdf/documents/care-homes-for-the-elderly-where-are-we-now.pdf


© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | September 2018

The Vibrant Economy Index
a new way to measure success 

Places are complex and have an intrinsic impact on the people and businesses within them. 

Economic growth doesn’t influence all of the elements that are important to people’s lives –

so we shouldn’t use GDP to measure success. We set out to create another measure for 

understanding what makes a place successful. 

In total, we look at 324 English local authority areas, taking into account not only economic 

prosperity but health and happiness, inclusion and equality, environmental resilience, 

community and dynamism and opportunity. Highlights of the index include:

• Traditional measures of success – gross value added (GVA), average workplace earning 

and employment do not correlate in any significant way with the other baskets. This is 

particularly apparent in cities, which despite significant economic strengths are often 

characterised by substantial deprivation and low aspiration, high numbers of long-term 

unemployment and high numbers of benefit claimants

• The importance of the relationships between different places and the subsequent role of 

infrastructure in connecting places and facilitating choice. The reality is that patterns of 

travel for work, study and leisure don’t reflect administrative boundaries. Patterns emerge 

where prosperous and dynamic areas are surrounded by more inclusive and healthy and 

happy places, as people choose where they live and travel to work in prosperous areas.

• The challenges facing leaders across the public, private and third sector in how to 

support those places that perform less well. No one organisation can address this on 

their own. Collaboration is key.

Visit our website (www.grantthornton.co.uk) to explore the interactive map, read case studies 

and opinion pieces, and download our report Vibrant Economy Index: Building a better 

economy.

Vibrant Economy app

To support local collaboration, we have also developed a Vibrant Economy app. It's been 

designed to help broaden understanding of the elements of a vibrant economy and 

encourage the sharing of new ideas for – and existing stories of – local vibrancy. 

We’ve developed the app to help people and organisations:

• see how their place performs against the index and the views of others through an 

interactive quiz

• post ideas and share examples of local activities that make places more vibrant

• access insights from Grant Thornton on a vibrant economy.

We're inviting councils to share it with their employees and the wider community to 

download. We can provide supporting collateral for internal communications on launch and 

anonymised reporting of your employees' views to contribute to your thinking and response.

12

To download the app visit your app store and search 'Vibrant Economy‘

• Fill in your details to sign up, and wait for the verification email (check 

your spam folder if you don't see it)

• Explore the app and take the quiz

• Go to the Vibrant Ideas section to share your picture and story or idea

Our Vibrant Economy Index uses data to provide a robust, independent framework to help everyone understand the 

challenges and opportunities in their local areas. We want to start a debate about what type of economy we want to build 

in the UK and spark collaboration between citizens, businesses and place-shapers to make their places thrive.

P
age 26

http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/


© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | September 2018

Grant Thornton website links

https://www.grantthornton.co.uk/

http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/industries/publicsector

https://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/care-homes-where-are-we-now/

National Audit Office link 

https://www.nao.org.uk/report/the-health-and-social-care-interface/

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government links

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/social-housing-green-paper-a-new-deal-for-social-housing

Institute for Fiscal Studies

https://www.ifs.org.uk/uploads/publications/comms/R148.pdf

13

Links

P
age 27

https://www.grantthornton.co.uk/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/industries/publicsector
https://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/care-homes-where-are-we-now/
https://www.nao.org.uk/report/the-adult-social-care-workforce-in-england/
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/social-housing-green-paper-a-new-deal-for-social-housing
https://www.nao.org.uk/report/the-adult-social-care-workforce-in-england/


© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Confidential and information only.

‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member firms, 

as the context requires. Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL).GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each 

member firm is a separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not 

obligate, one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. This proposal is made by Grant Thornton UK LLP and is in all respects subject to the negotiation, agreement 

and signing of a specific contract/letter of engagement. The client names quoted within this proposal are disclosed on a confidential basis. All information in this proposal is released strictly 

for the purpose of this process and must not be disclosed to any other parties without express consent from Grant Thornton UK LLP. 

grantthornton.co.uk

P
age 28



Annual Audit Letter
Year ending 31 March 2018

Gloucestershire County Council

August 2018

P
age 29

A
genda Item

 5



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  |  August 2018 2

Contents

Section Page

1. Executive Summary 3

2. Audit of the Accounts 5

3. Value for Money conclusion 9

Appendices

A  Reports issued and fees

B     Council Action Plan

C     Pension Fund Action Plan

Your key Grant Thornton 

team members are:

Peter Barber

Director

T:  0117 305 7897

E: peter.a.barber@uk.gt.com 

Katie Whybray

Manager

T: 0117 305 7601

E: katie.v.Whybray@uk.gt.com

Megan Gibson

In-charge Auditor

T: 0117 305 7681

E: megan.Gibson@uk.gt.com

P
age 30



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  |  August 2018 3

Executive Summary

Purpose

Our Annual Audit Letter (Letter) summarises the key findings arising from the work 

that we have carried out at Gloucestershire County Council (the Council) and 

Gloucestershire Pension Fund for the year ended 31 March 2018.  

This Letter is intended to provide a commentary on the results of our work to the 

Council and external stakeholders, and to highlight issues that we wish to draw to the 

attention of the public. In preparing this Letter, we have followed the National Audit 

Office (NAO)'s Code of Audit Practice and Auditor Guidance Note (AGN) 07 –

'Auditor Reporting'. We reported the detailed findings from our audit work to the 

Council's Audit and Governance Committee as those charged with governance in our 

Audit Findings Report on 27 July 2018.

Respective responsibilities

We have carried out our audit in accordance with the NAO's Code of Audit Practice, which 

reflects the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (the Act). Our key 

responsibilities are to:

• give an opinion on the Council’s financial statement and the pension fund financial 

statements (section two)

• assess the Council's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its 

use of resources (the value for money conclusion) (section three).

In our audit of the Council financial statements, we comply with International Standards on 

Auditing (UK) (ISAs) and other guidance issued by the NAO.

Materiality We determined materiality for the audit of the Councils financial statements to be £17.496 million, which is 2% of the Council's gross revenue 

expenditure. We determined materiality for the audit of the pension fund accounts administered by the Council to be £22.394 million, which is 

1% of the pension fund’s net assets. 

Financial Statements opinion We gave an unqualified opinion on the Council's financial statements on 27 July 2018. 

We gave an unqualified opinion on the pension fund accounts of Gloucestershire Pension Fund on 27 July 2018. 

Whole of Government Accounts 

(WGA) 

We completed work on the Council’s consolidation return following guidance issued by the NAO. 

Use of statutory powers We did not identify any matters which required us to exercise our additional statutory powers.

Our workP
age 31



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  |  August 2018 4

Executive Summary

Working with the Council

During the year we have delivered a number of successful :

outcomes with you

• An efficient audit – we delivered an efficient audit with you, releasing your finance 

team for other work.

• We supported the finance team throughout the year on a number of audit and 

accounting queries.

• Sharing our insight – we provided regular audit committee updates covering best practice. 

We also shared our thought leadership reports

• Providing training – we provided your teams with training on financial accounts 

We would like to record our appreciation for the assistance and co-operation

provided to us during our audit by the Council's staff.

Grant Thornton UK LLP

August 2018

Value for Money arrangements Due to the outstanding objection from 2016/17 on the Council’s energy from waste scheme, we are unable to conclude on the value for money 

arrangements in place at the Council.

Certificate We have not been able to certify the conclusion of the audit yet due to:

• outstanding 2016/17 objection relating to the energy from waste scheme which has yet to be concluded

• review of the 2017/18 pension fund annual report 

P
age 32



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  |  August 2018 5

Audit of the Accounts

Our audit approach

Council Materiality

In our audit of the Council's financial statements, we use the concept of materiality to 

determine the nature, timing and extent of our work, and in evaluating the results of 

our work. We define materiality as the size of the misstatement in the financial 

statements that would lead a reasonably knowledgeable person to change or 

influence their economic decisions. 

We determined materiality for the audit of the Council  to be £17.469 million, which is 

2% of the group's gross revenue expenditure. We used this benchmark as, in our 

view, users of the Council's financial statements are most interested in where the 

Council has spent its revenue in the year. 

We also set a lower level of specific materiality of £0.02 million for senior officer 

remuneration and unusual related parties.

We set a lower threshold of £0.873 million, above which we reported errors to the 

Audit and Governance Committee in our Audit Findings Report.

Pension Fund Materiality

For the audit of the Gloucestershire Pension Fund accounts, we determined 

materiality to be £22.934 million million, which is 1% of the Fund's net assets. We 

used this benchmark, as in our view, users of the Pension Fund accounts are most 

interested in the value of assets available to fund pension benefits.

We set a lower level of specific materiality for certain areas such as management 

expenses, related party transactions and senior officer remuneration disclosures 

above which we reported errors to the Audit and Governance Committee in our 

Pension Fund Audit Findings Report.

The scope of our audit

Our audit involves obtaining sufficient evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 

financial statements to give reasonable assurance that they are free from material 

misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes assessing whether:

• the accounting policies are appropriate, have been consistently applied and adequately 

disclosed; 

• the significant accounting estimates made by management are reasonable; and

• the overall presentation of the financial statements gives a true and fair view. 

We also read the remainder of the Statement of Accounts and the annual governance 

statement to check they are consistent with our understanding of the Council and with the 

financial statements included in the Statement of Accounts on which we gave our opinion.

We carry out our audit in accordance with ISAs (UK) and the NAO Code of Audit Practice. We 

believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 

basis for our opinion.

Our audit approach is based on a thorough understanding of the Council and Pension Funds 

business and is risk based. 

We identified key risks for the Council and Pension Fund and set out on the following pages the 

work we performed in response to these risks and the results of this work.

P
age 33



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  |  August 2018 6

Audit of the Accounts

Council Significant Audit Risks
These are the significant risks which had the greatest impact on our overall strategy and where we focused more of our work. 

Risks identified in our audit plan How we responded to the risk Findings and conclusions

The revenue cycle includes fraudulent 

transactions

Under ISA (UK) 240 there is a rebuttable

presumed risk that revenue may be misstated
due to the improper recognition of revenue.

This presumption can be rebutted if the auditor

concludes that there is no risk of material

misstatement due to fraud relating to revenue

recognition.

Having considered the risk factors set out in ISA240 and the nature of the revenue 

streams at the Council, we determined that the risk of fraud arising from revenue 

recognition can be rebutted, because:

• there is little incentive to manipulate revenue recognition

• opportunities to manipulate revenue recognition are very limited

• the culture and ethical frameworks of local authorities, including 

Gloucestershire County Council, mean that all forms of fraud are seen as 

unacceptable.

Our audit work did not identify any issues in 

respect of revenue recognition.

Management override of controls

Under ISA (UK) 240 there is a non-rebuttable 

presumed risk that the risk of management over-

ride of controls is present in all entities. 

Management over-ride of controls is a risk 

requiring special audit consideration.

Auditor commentary

We undertook the following work in relation to this risk:

• review of accounting estimates, judgements and decisions made by 

management

• testing of journal entries

• review of accounting estimates, judgements and decisions made by 

management

• review of unusual significant transactions

• review of significant related party transactions outside the normal course of 

business

Our audit work did not identify any issues in 

respect of management override of controls. 

P
age 34



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  |  August 2018 7

Audit of the Accounts

Council Significant Audit Risks
These are the significant risks which had the greatest impact on our overall strategy and where we focused more of our work. 

Risks identified in our audit 

plan

How we responded to the risk Findings and conclusions

Valuation of property, plant 

and equipment

The Council revalues its assets on 

a rolling basis over a two year 

period. To ensure that carrying 

value is not materially different 

from fair value. This represents a 

significant estimate by 

management in the financial 

statements.

We identified the valuation of land 

and buildings revaluations and 

impairments as a risk requiring 

special audit consideration.

We undertook the following work in relation to this risk:

• review of management's processes and assumptions for the calculation of the estimate.

• review of the competence, expertise and objectivity of any management experts used.

• review of the instructions issued to valuation experts and the scope of their work

• discussions with the Council's valuer about the basis on which the valuation was carried out, 

challenging the key assumptions.

• review and challenge of the information used by the valuer to ensure it was robust and 

consistent with our understanding.

• testing of revaluations made during the year to ensure they were input correctly into the 

Council's asset register

• evaluation of the assumptions made by management for those assets not revalued during the 

year and how management satisfied themselves that these  were not materially different to 

current value.

Our audit testing on the valuation of property, 

plant and equipment did not identify any 

significant issues.

We did, however, encounter issues in our 

testing of revaluations to ensure that they 

have been input correctly into the Council’s 

asset register. This was due to a system 

limitation not allowing the Council to 

reproduce a report as at the 1 April 2017 

when the revaluations were entered into the 

system. The extrapolated differences 

identified are below triviality, however we 

have made a recommendation for 

management regarding this to ensure the 

Council is able to maintain a robust audit trail 

which provides appropriate audit evidence for 

the revaluation movements. 

Valuation of pension fund net 

liability

The Council’s pension fund asset 

and liability as reflected in its 

balance sheet represent a 

significant estimate in the financial 

statements.

We identified the valuation of the 

pension fund net liability as a risk 

requiring special audit 

consideration

Auditor commentary

We undertook the following work in relation to this risk:

 identifing the controls put in place by management to ensure that the pension fund net liability 

is not materially misstated and assessed whether those controls were implemented as 

expected and whether they were sufficient to mitigate the risk of material misstatement.

 review of the competence, expertise and objectivity of the actuary who carried out the 

Council's pension fund valuation. 

 gaining an understanding of the basis on which the IAS 19 valuation was carried out, 

undertaking procedures to confirm the reasonableness of the actuarial assumptions made. 

 review of the consistency of the pension fund net liability disclosures in notes to the financial 

statements with the actuarial report from your actuary

Our audit testing on the valuation of the 

pension fund net liability did not identify any 

significant issues.

The Council made an early payment of £10 

million to the pension fund in 2017/18 for 

contributions due to 2018/19 and 2019/20. 

We have completed testing on this payment 

to ensure it is approximately accounted for in 

the financial statements and have not 

identified any issues. As the payment relates 

to a reduction of contribution in 2018/19 and 

2018/20 there is no general fund impact in the 

2017/18 accounts.

P
age 35



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  |  August 2018 8

Audit of the Accounts

Pension Fund Significant Audit Risks 
These are the risks which had the greatest impact on our overall strategy and where we focused more of our work on the pension fund.

Risks identified in our audit plan How we responded to the risk Findings and conclusions

Improper revenue recognition

Under ISA 240 (UK) there is a presumed risk that 

revenue may be misstated due to the improper 

recognition of revenue. This presumption can be 

rebutted if the auditor concludes that there is no risk 

of material misstatement due to fraud relating to 

revenue recognition.

Having considered the risk factors set out in ISA240 and the nature of the 

revenue streams at the Pension Fund, we determined that the risk of fraud 

arising from revenue recognition can be rebutted, because:

• there is little incentive to manipulate revenue recognition

• opportunities to manipulate revenue recognition are very limited

• the culture and ethical frameworks of local authorities, including 

Gloucestershire Pension Fund, mean that all forms of fraud are seen as 

unacceptable

• A number of admitted bodies made early repayments in 2017/18 which 

we undertook additional procedures on to ensure the income was 

supported by evidence and accounted for correctly

Our audit work did not identify any issues in 

respect of revenue recognition.

Management override of controls

Under ISA (UK) 240 there is a non-rebuttable 

presumed risk that the risk of management over-

ride of controls is present in all entities. 

We identified management override of controls as a 

risk requiring special audit consideration.

. 

We addressed the significant risk of management override of controls by:

• review of accounting estimates, judgements and decisions made by 

management

• testing of journal entries

• review of unusual significant transactions

• review of significant related party transactions outside the normal course 

of business.

Our audit work did not identifiy any issues in 

respect of management override of controls.

P
age 36



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  |  August 2018 9

Audit of the Accounts 

Pension Fund Significant Audit Risks 
These are the risks which had the greatest impact on our overall strategy and where we focused more of our work on the pension fund. 

Risks identified in our audit plan How we responded to the risk Findings and conclusions

The valuation of Level 3 investments is 

incorrect

Under ISA 315 significant risks often relate to 

significant non-routine transactions and 

judgemental matters.  Level 3 investments by their 

very nature require a significant degree of 

judgement to reach an appropriate valuation at year 
end.

We identified the valuation of level 3 investments as 

a risk requiring special audit consideration

Auditor commentary

In order to address the significant risk of valuation of level 3 investments being 

incorrect we performed the following;

• gained an understanding of the Fund’s process for valuing level 3 

investments

• reviewed the nature and basis of estimated values and considered what 

assurance management has over the year end valuations provided for  these 

types of investments

• considered the competence, expertise and objectivity of any management 

experts used

• reviewed the qualifications of the fund managers used to value Level 3 

investments at year end and gain an understanding of how the valuation of 

these investments has been reached

• for a sample of investments, tested the valuation by obtaining and reviewing 

the audited accounts, (where available) at the latest date for individual 

investments and agreeing these to the fund manager reports at that date. 

Reconciled those values to the values at 31 March 2018 with reference to 

movements in the intervening period.

Our audit work did not identified any issues in 

respect of the valuation of these investments. 

However we did identify three investments 

categorised as level 3 under the fair value 

hierarchy disclosure note which should have 

been categorised as level 2 investments. The 

movement between level 3 to level 2 has 

been adjusted by management in the final 

version of the financial statements.

P
age 37



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  |  August 2018 10

Audit of the Accounts

Council Audit opinion
We gave an unqualified opinion on the Council’s financial statements on 27 July 

2018, in advance of the earlier national deadline.

Preparation of the accounts

The Council presented us with draft accounts in accordance with the national 

deadline of 31 May 2018, and provided a good set of working papers to support 

them. The finance team responded promptly and efficiently to our queries during the 

course of the audit.

Issues arising from the audit of the accounts

We reported the key issues from our audits to the Council's Audit and Governance 

Committee on 27 July 2018. 

Annual Governance Statement and Narrative Report

We are required to review the Council’s Annual Governance Statement and Narrative 

Report. It published them on its website in line with the national deadlines. 

Both documents were prepared in line with the CIPFA Code and relevant supporting 

guidance. We confirmed that both documents were consistent with  the financial 

statements prepared by the Council and with our knowledge of the Council. 

Whole of Government Accounts (WGA)

We carried out work on the Council’s Data Collection Tool in line with instructions 

provided by the NAO . We issued an assurance statement which did not identify any 

issues for the group auditor to consider on 30 August 2018.

Pension Fund Audit opinion
We gave an unqualified opinion on the pension fund accounts of Gloucestershire Pension Fund 

on 27 July 2018 in advance of the earlier national deadline.

We also reported the key issues from our audit of the pension fund accounts to the Council’s  

Audit and Governance Committee on 27 July 2018. 

Other statutory powers 
We also have additional powers and duties under the Act, including powers to issue a public 

interest report, make written recommendations, apply to the Court for a declaration that an item 

of account is contrary to law, and to give electors the opportunity to raise questions about the 

Council's accounts and to raise objections received in relation to the accounts.

Certificate of closure of the audit
We have not been able to certify the conclusion of the audit yet due to:

• Outstanding 2016/17 objection relating to the energy from waste scheme which has yet to 

be concluded

• Audit review of the 2017/18 pension fund annual report outstanding

P
age 38



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  |  August 2018 11

Value for Money conclusion

Background
We carried out our review in accordance with the NAO Code of Audit Practice, 

following the guidance issued by the NAO in November 2017 which specified the 

criterion for auditors to evaluate:

In all significant respects, the audited body takes properly informed decisions and 

deploys resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and 

local people. 

Key findings
Our first step in carrying out our work was to perform a risk assessment and identify 

the key risks where we concentrated our work.

The key risks we identified and the work we performed are set out on the following 

pages.

Overall Value for Money conclusion

We are unable to issue our Value for Money conclusion until we have finalised a 2016/17 

objection relating to the energy from waste scheme. We have also not concluded on the 

2016/17 Value for Money conclusion for this same reason. 

We will finalise our Value for Money Opinions for both 2016/17 and 2017/18 once we have 

concluded our work on the objection.

P
age 39



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  |  August 2018 12

Value for Money conclusion

Key Value for Money Risks

Risks identified in 

our audit plan

How we responded to the 

risk

Findings and conclusions

Future Financial 

Sustainability

As part of our work we  

reviewed  the Council’s 

medium term financial plan 

and, in particular, the outturn 

for 2017/18 and the Councils 

ability to manage demand and 

financial pressures over the

medium to long term. 

The Council set a net budget of £407.70 million for the 2017/18 financial year which was predicated on the delivery of 

£35.34 million of  savings and included an increase in council tax of 3.99% for the year which included a 2% national 

adult social care levy. The final reported outturn position was an underspend of £8.04 million before adjustments for 

2017/18. After adjustments (transfers to reserves and carry forwards of unspent budgets) the final outturn position was a 

small overspend of £0.033 million which was funded from general reserves. 

The council delivered £32.37m savings (92% of its target for the year). Of the required £35.34 million of savings, £23.56 

million related to the meeting the challenge (MTC) saving plans of which 87.2% was achieved. The remaining £11.78 

million savings related to reduction in one off 2016/17 budget increases, contract efficiencies and other transactional 

savings for which all savings were achieved. 

The Council continues to experience significant demand pressures particularly in Children and Families and Adult 

Services. These areas continue to be a focus for the Council. The childrens and families directorate reported a year end 

overspend of £6.37 million with continuing increase in demand for social care and actions required following the Ofsted 

Inspection placing further pressures on the children's and families budget. The cost of implementing the Improvement 

plan totalled £2.68 million in 2017/18 of which £1.47 million was funded from within the service area using one-off funding 

and £1.21 million funded from the transformation reserve. The Adults directorate reported an underspend of £2.63 million. 

Of this £0.71 million has been transferred into a new people services reserve given the volatility in demand for both 

Adults and Children social care.

The technical and cross cutting budget recorded a year end position underspend of £6.36 million. This was due to a 

number of reasons including an additional £1.2 million from S31 grants, additional £2.4 million income due to positive 

interest rate credits on balances, unused contingencies and one-off underspends.

The Council has a good track record of delivering against its budget despite the continued reduction in central 

government funding and the need to identify and realise significant savings each year. There is regular review and 

challenge at a member and officer level and robust financial management arrangements in place.

Overall, we concluded that the Council has appropriate arrangements in place for financial sustainability, 

However, we recognise the continued significant pressures the Council face going forward  and importance of 

continued close in-year monitoring of budgets.

P
age 40



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  |  August 2018 13

Value for Money conclusion

Key Value for Money Risks

Risks identified in 

our audit plan

How we responded to the 

risk

Findings and conclusions

Children's services As part of our work we 

understood the progress 

made since the publication 

of the Ofsted ‘inadequate 

rating by reviewing 

monitoring reports from 

Ofsted and through 

discussions with 

management.

There has been regular reporting and monitoring throughout the year of the actions taken to improve the service following 

on from the inadequate rating from Ofsted given to the Council's children's services in June 2017.

After a period of significant change and interim arrangements in the children’s services directorate senior management 

team throughout the majority of 2017/18, a permanent director of children’s services was appointed in March 2018. This 

was important as it now provides some stability at the top-level and should enable the Council to fully embrace the 

improvement journey with clear direction from the top.

Overall, we concluded that the Council did not manage this risk effectively and did not make appropriate use of 

performance and service quality information to support informed decision making and performance management. 

P
age 41



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  |  August 2018 14

A. Reports issued and fees

We confirm below our final reports issued and fees charged for the audit and provision of non-audit services.

Fees

Planned

£

Actual fees 

£

2016/17 fees

£

Statutory Council audit 98,010 98,010 98,010

Audit of Pension Fund 23,799 23,799 23,799

Total fees 121,809 121,809 121,809

Reports issued

Report Date issued

Audit Plan February 2018

Audit Findings Report July 2018

Annual Audit Letter August 2018

Fees for non-audit services

Service Fees £

Audit related services 

- Certification of teachers’ pension return

- Independent reasonable assurance engagement –

local transport plan major project claim

£4,200

£4,200

Non-Audit related services

- CFO Insights £10,000

Non- audit services

• For the purposes of our audit we have made enquiries of all Grant Thornton 

UK LLP teams providing services to the Council. The table above 

summarises all non-audit services which were identified.

• We have considered whether non-audit services might be perceived as a 

threat to our independence as the Council’s auditor and have ensured that 

appropriate safeguards are put in place. 

The above non-audit services are consistent with the Council’s policy on the 

allotment of non-audit work to your auditor 

P
age 42



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  |  August 2018 15

B. Council Action plan

We have identified 2 recommendations for the Council as a result of issues identified during the course of our audit. We have agreed our recommendations with management and we will 

report on progress on these recommendations during the course of the 2018/19 audit. The matters reported here are limited to those deficiencies that we have identified during the 

course of our audit and that we have concluded are of sufficient importance to merit being reported to you in accordance with auditing standards.

Controls

 High – Significant effect on control system

 Medium – Effect on control system

 Low – Best practice

Assessment Issue and risk Recommendations


PPE Revaluations

We encountered issues in our testing of revaluations input into the 

Council’s asset register. This was due to a system limitation not 

allowing the council to reproduce a report as at the 1 April 2017 

when the revaluations were entered into the system. The 

extrapolated error is below triviality, however we have made a 

recommendation for management regarding this to ensure the 

Council is able to maintain a robust audit trail which provides 

appropriate audit evidence for the revaluation movements. 

• The Council should ensure that report downloads and screenshots are taken when 

the asset register is updated for revaluations conducted as at 1 April. This will 

ensure that there is a robust audit trail maintained and easily accessible at year-end 

to support the valuation movements within the asset register.

Management response

Agreed. Screenshots were originally taken during Asset Accounting closedown, however 

when rerun due to an additional settlement one download was not run, and the system is 

not able to reproduced it at a certain point in time. Asset Accounting has been given a 

priority 1 in our SAP enhancement/review project.


PPE Revaluations

In the draft accounts, the Council had not eliminated accumulated 

depreciation on items of property, plant and equipment which 

have been revalued. 

• The council should ensure going forward that the treatment of accumulated 

deprecation on revalued assets is in line with the CIPFA Code of Practice 

requirements.

Management response

Agreed – the revaluation reserve will be adjusted for accumulated depreciation in future.


Accounting Policies

We identified a number of policies which required updating or 

amending to ensure the policies were up to date and in line with 

the CIPFA Code of Practice. 

• The council should review the accounting policies on an annual basis to ensure they 

are up to date and in line with the CIPFA Code of Practice requirements.

Management response

Agreed – all Accounting Policies will be reviewed annually.

P
age 43



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  |  August 2018 16

C. Pension Fund Action plan

We have identified one recommendation for the Pension Fund as a result of issues identified during the course of our audit. We have agreed our recommendations with management 

and we will report on progress on these recommendations during the course of the 2018/19 audit. The matters reported here are limited to those deficiencies that we have identified 

during the course of our audit and that we have concluded are of sufficient importance to merit being reported to you in accordance with auditing standards.

Controls

 High – Significant effect on control system

 Medium – Effect on control system

 Low – Best practice

Assessment Control issue Recommendations


We identified that the fund’s investment values are recorded within 

the ledger at book cost and that unrealised gains on investments 

are not input into the ledger. This means that the trial balance does 

not fully reflect the ledger as the net assets statement disclosures 
investments at their fair value

In order to ensure the financial statements are in accordance with the Pension Fund’s 

main accounting system, we recommend that investments on the ledger are updated to 

reflect the current values. Ideally these should be done each time management 

accounts are produced. Ideally these should be done each time management accounts 

are produced. 

Management response

Management confirm that, now that the new custodian arrangements have been 

effectively implemented, during 2018/19 appropriate action will be taken to ensure that 

unrealised gains on investments are included within the final accounts for the 2018/19 

and future financial years.

P
age 44



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  |  August 2018

© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member 

firms, as the context requires.

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a 

separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate, one 

another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. 

grantthornton.co.uk

P
age 45



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Audit and Governance Committee 

 

Date: 1.1 12th October 2018 Agenda No: 

 

1.2  

Title of Report: 
Independent Internal Audit Investigation - Gloucestershire Fire 

and Rescue Service (GFRS).  

 

Purpose of Report: 
To provide the Audit and Governance Committee (AGC) with a 

recommended action plan to address the outcomes resulting from 

the investigation. 

Recommendations: 
It is recommended that the AGC:  

a) Considers and approves the action plan to address the 

recommendations included within the independent report 

on the GFRS; and 

b) Approves the process for delivering the actions set out, 

and the on-going monitoring arrangements to be 

undertaken by the AGC. 

Officer (s) Contact: 
Theresa Mortimer: Head of Audit Risk Assurance, Area Finance 

Team and Insurance Services. Tel: 01452 328883 

Theresa.Mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Jo Walker: Director: Strategic Finance and Enabling Services. 

Tel: 01452 328469 

joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Key Risks: Failure to implement the recommendations may have a negative 

impact on effective governance arrangements operating within 

specifically GFRS and the Council as a whole, causing significant 

reputational damage and loss of confidence in the Council’s 

governance arrangements. 

 

 

Page 47

Agenda Item 6

mailto:Theresa.Mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk


 

Page 48



 

 

Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue 
Service (GFRS) Investigation 

17th September 2018 

Theresa Mortimer – Chief Internal Auditor 
Carolyne Wignall - Principal Auditor (Investigating Officer) 

Page 49



Gloucestershire County Council - September 18 

 

010605/19/003: GFRS Investigation v1.0 
OFFICIAL 

 

 

Distribution 

 

Peter Bungard Chief Executive 

Nigel Riglar  Commissioning Director: Communities and Infrastructure 
 
Jon McGinty  Managing Director / Commissioning Director 
 
Jo Walker  Director: Strategic Finance and Enabling services 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Contents 

Executive Summary ..................................................................................................................... 2 
 
 

 

Important 

 Gloucestershire County Council’s Internal Audit function conforms to the 
International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing. 
 

 The information contained within this audit report is confidential and personal data herein is 
subject to data protection legislation. 

 
This report has been prepared solely for the use of Gloucestershire County Council’s auditors 
and those officers and Members named on the distribution list. Its contents, either in part or in 
its entirety, must not be reproduced or distributed to anyone other than its intended recipients 
without the written permission of the Council’s Chief Internal Auditor. 
 
Gloucestershire County Council accepts no liability to any third party for any loss or expense 
arising from their reliance on any part of this report.

Page 50



Gloucestershire County Council - September 18 

 

010605/19/003: GFRS Investigation  v1.0 
OFFICIAL 

2 

 

Executive Summary  

Introduction 
 

1. On 15th June 2018 a letter of complaint was sent by email to the Leader of the Council 
from a whistleblower. There were three strands to the complaint, concerning: 
 

 The sale of a Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service (GFRS) owned vehicle 
where it was alleged that the vehicle, a Land Rover Defender, was not sold to the 
highest bidder; 

 The high level of staff turnover in the last 24 months; and 

 The level of staff with mental health issues who have sought the use of the 
Council’s Occupational Health Service during the last 24 months. 

 

2. The letter was forwarded to the Chief Executive on 18th June and then on 20th June it was 
passed to the Commissioning Director: Communities and Infrastructure to follow-up.  After 
discussions with Internal Audit (IA) on 21st June, it was agreed that IA would investigate 
the first matter raised and Human Resources (HR) would review the remaining two 
concerns. 

 
3. Shortly after commencing the investigation, numerous additional whistleblowing 

allegations and Freedom of Information Requests (FOI’s) in respect of other concerns 
relating to GFRS governance arrangements, procedures, systems and processes were 
received. As a result, following IA review, research, analysis and interviews with key 
stakeholders including relevant GFRS Officers, IA has co-ordinated the findings and 
made a number of recommendations to undertake detailed reviews within each area to 
determine the level of risk, as outlined in the Action Plan at Appendix 1. 

 

Disposal of GFRS vehicle (Land Rover)  

4. As noted above, whistleblowing allegations in respect of the disposal of a GFRS Land 
Rover Defender and potential probity issues in relation to the involvement of the ex-Chief 
Fire Officer (CFO) in this process were raised.   
 

5. As per the Council’s Whistleblowing Policy, IA commenced an extensive investigation that 
included the review of relevant policies, practices, systems and processes, testing the 
adequacy of those procedures against the requirements of the Council’s Constitution and 
policies and undertook a suite of audit interviews with key officers involved in the disposal 
of the Land Rover Defender.   
 

6. Within days of the investigation starting and before any outcomes were known, the 
then CFO resigned acknowledging ‘poor judgement’ by not recognising the significance 
of his personal interest in acquiring a vehicle, whereby the disposal process had been 
overseen by himself. The CFO acknowledged his actions ‘have damaged the Council’s 
confidence in his ability to undertake his senior leadership role’. 
 

 
 

Page 51



Gloucestershire County Council - September 18 

 

010605/19/003: GFRS Investigation  v1.0 
OFFICIAL 

3 

 

7. Despite this resignation the IA investigation continued, and following detailed analysis of 
the information received and evidence obtained, together with results of the interviews 
undertaken, IA identified the need to contact and liaise with Gloucestershire Constabulary 
on this matter in accordance with the Council’s Fraud Response Plan. 
 

8. Following the resignation of the CFO, a significant number of additional whistle blowing 
allegations together with Freedom of Information requests were received notifying 
numerous other governance issues, the main concerns being around the culture within 
the GFRS, which is not in the remit of IA to consider. To ensure this was reviewed, the 
Chief Executive asked Peter Jones, former Chief Fire Officer until 2006 and former 
County Council Deputy Chief Executive until 2015, to act as a conduit for staff concerns in 
relation to GFRS culture and advise regarding any findings. 

  
9. Please be advised that at the date of this report, Gloucestershire Constabulary has 

confirmed their involvement in this case and that their investigation into the potential 
probity issues around the disposal of the Land Rover Defender is still ongoing and that 
no-one has been charged. Further updates will be provided to the Audit and Governance 
Committee (AGC), as the nominated committee overseeing the delivery of the action plan, 
as part of the action plan monitoring process. 
 

Recommendations 
 

10. To ensure that all IA’s initial findings and whistleblowing allegations are fully addressed, 
IA has made the following GFRS specific and council wide / cross cutting 
recommendations. Further detail on these recommendations, including action owners and 
target dates can be found at Appendix 1 to this report. 
 

1. To rebuild the confidence and trust within GFRS, the “cultural review “of GFRS 
undertaken in 2016, which seems to have initially been well received, needs to be 
rejuvenated, and implemented in a timely manner; 

2. Focusing on the governance areas identified as part of the investigation and 
notified as part of the whistleblowing allegations, IA to immediately commence a 
series of extensive compliance audits across GFRS;  

3. In addition to the above, during the next 18 months, IA to undertake ‘pure 
compliance’ audits across the whole Council. These audits will review compliance 
with the Council’s key corporate policies (financial and non financial); 

4. To ensure that GFRS staff are made aware of the Council’s Contract Standing 
Orders, Financial Regulations and Accounting Instructions, the provision of 
relevant (including financial management) training is provided. Consideration 
should also be given to introducing a countywide training programme that is not 
just restricted to GFRS which includes periodic refresher training; and 

5. IA to test the adequacy of the 2018/19 Directors and Heads of Service 
Governance Assurance Statements, which in relation to GFRS may previously 
have given false assurance. This activity will be incorporated into Quarter 1 of the 
2019/20 Internal Audit Plan.  

11. Please be advised that a detailed Terms of Reference will be developed and agreed in 
relation to each IA activity. All findings / outcomes of each review will be presented to the 
AGC to enable the relevant assurances to be provided.  
 

Page 52



Gloucestershire County Council - September 18 

 

010605/19/003: GFRS Investigation  v1.0 
OFFICIAL 

4 

 

 
Conclusion 
 

12. The results of the investigatory work, including full consideration of the whistleblowing 
allegations, has resulted in a number of high priority improvement actions required to 
significantly strengthen the governance arrangements operating within GFRS. In 
addition, this review has also highlighted the need for more countywide ‘compliance’ 
audits.  
 

13. An improvement action plan has been developed which is attached at Appendix 1. It is 
proposed that progress updates against each action is provided by the relevant action 
owner, to the AGC to provide the relevant assurances that these recommendations are 
being addressed in a timely manner. The action owners will continue to report on the 
progress of the actions to the AGC until all actions listed have been fully completed to the 
satisfaction of the AGC. 
 

Page 53



Gloucestershire County Council – September 18 

 

010605/19/003: GFRS Investigation  v1.0 
OFFICIAL 

5 

 

 
Appendix 1 

 

Action Plan to address the recommendations made in relation to the independent investigation of the 
Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service (GFRS)  

 
Progress as at October 2018 

 
 Recommendation Progress to date Internal Audits 

(IA) Role 
Lead Officer Proposed 

Reporting 
Arrangements 

and 
Timescales 

1 GFRS Culture 

Due to the number of whistleblowing allegations raised 

around culture within GFRS it is recommended that: 

 The current culture within the GFRS is reviewed to 

enable the understanding of leadership and 

employee behaviours, attitudes and beliefs; 

 This could be achieved by building upon and 

rejuvenating the outcomes of the Cultural Review 

of the service undertaken during 2016 and 

exploring options from bringing the findings up to 

date alongside the results of the 2018 Employee 

Engagement Survey; and 

 This needs to consider a wide range of concerns 

expressed, including confidence in leadership; 

ability to challenge; and progression within the 

service.  

The CFO recruitment is 
in progress and 
recruiting the right leader 
to set the culture will be 
critical. 
 
The fire service has 
ongoing action in a 
number of areas to 
improve the culture 
including structured 
routes for employee 
engagement and 
manager development.  
 
John Bonney, the 
independent adviser who 
undertook the cultural 
review has revisited his 
recommendations and 
actions to consider 
progress.  
 

 

N/A 

 

Managing Director / 

Commissioning Director - 

Jon McGinty and Head of 

HR and OD - Mandy 

Quayle 

 

Ongoing progress 

updates will be 

provided to the 

AGC.  

P
age 54



Gloucestershire County Council – September 18 

 

010605/19/003: GFRS Investigation  v1.0 
OFFICIAL 

6 

 

 Recommendation Progress to date Internal Audits 
(IA) Role 

Lead Officer Proposed 
Reporting 

Arrangements 
and 

Timescales 
We are working with the 
adviser to learn from his 
recent findings regarding 
the effectiveness of the 
interventions and how to 
improve. 
 
Complaints from fire 
fighters over this period 
have been investigated 
independently. 
 
There have been early 
conversations with the 
Fire Brigade Union 
regarding working 
positively together. 
 

2 Training 

To ensure that GFRS staff are made aware of the 

Council’s Contract Standing Orders, Financial 

Regulations and Accounting Instructions, the provision 

of relevant (including financial management training) is 

provided.  

Consideration should also be given to introducing a 

county wide training programme that is not just 

restricted to GFRS which includes periodic refresher 

training. 

 

A training programme 

has been developed 

within Strategic Finance 

and will be delivered to 

GFRS staff throughout 

Qtr.2. 

 

N/A 

 

Director of Strategic 

Finance and Enabling 

Services - Jo Walker 

 

Ongoing progress 

updates will be 

provided to the 

AGC. 

P
age 55



Gloucestershire County Council – September 18 

 

010605/19/003: GFRS Investigation  v1.0 
OFFICIAL 

7 

 

 Recommendation Progress to date Internal Audits 
(IA) Role 

Lead Officer Proposed 
Reporting 

Arrangements 
and 

Timescales 

Internal Audit Reviews - GFRS 

3 Governance (GFRS) 

To review the governance structure and arrangements 

that are currently in place within GFRS and in particular: 

 Roles, responsibilities and accountabilities of 

members/senior managers in GCC and GFRS and 

the inter-relationship between the two (including 

the key support services relationships, e.g. 

Finance and HR to ensure compliance with GCC’s 

Constitution); 

 Governance assurance frameworks, e.g. Annual 

Governance Statements (AGS) and Her Majesty’s 

Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue 

Services (HMICFRS) inspection framework; 

 GCC’s Constitution - decision-making powers and 

schemes of delegation in relation to both 

operational and corporate decisions; and 

 Code of Conduct - Register of Interests and Gifts 

and Hospitality. 

 

 

 

A Terms of Reference in 

respect of this review 

has been produced by IA 

and agreed with the 

Commissioning Director: 

Communities and 

Infrastructure – Nigel 

Riglar and the Managing 

Director/Commissioning 

Director – Jon McGinty 

Ongoing.  

 

 

Compliance testing 

has commenced 

during Qtr. 2 

2018/2019.  

 

 

Managing Director / 

Commissioning Director - 

Jon McGinty 

 

Ongoing progress 

updates will be 

provided to the 

AGC. 

P
age 56



Gloucestershire County Council – September 18 

 

010605/19/003: GFRS Investigation  v1.0 
OFFICIAL 

8 

 

 Recommendation Progress to date Internal Audits 
(IA) Role 

Lead Officer Proposed 
Reporting 

Arrangements 
and 

Timescales 
4 Fleet Management 

a) Disposal of vehicles 

To review the effectiveness of the governance 

arrangements, including the decision making 

processes, for the disposal and/or transfer of the 

GFRS’s surplus vehicles, seeking advice from GCC as 

necessary. 

 b) Commissioning of new vehicles 

To establish whether the purchases have been 

procured in accordance with GCC policies and Contract 

Standing Orders.  

 c) Fleet maintenance and stores stock control 

To ascertain the adequacy of the fleet maintenance 

and stores stock control systems. 

 d) Use of pool cars, personal and leased cars and 

fuel schemes 

To ensure compliance with the relevant terms and 

conditions e.g. Gold Book/Grey Book (GFRS specific 

terms and conditions), HMRC regulations and 

GFRS/GCC policies, in the context of best practice 

within the fire sector.  

 

 

A Terms of Reference in 

respect of this review will 

be produced by IA and 

agreed with the 

Managing Director / 

Commissioning Director - 

Jon McGinty. 

 

 

Compliance testing 

will commence 

during Qtr. 3 

2018/2019.  

 

 

Managing Director / 

Commissioning Director 

Jon McGinty 

 

Ongoing progress 

updates will be 

provided to the 

AGC. 

P
age 57



Gloucestershire County Council – September 18 

 

010605/19/003: GFRS Investigation  v1.0 
OFFICIAL 

9 

 

 Recommendation Progress to date Internal Audits 
(IA) Role 

Lead Officer Proposed 
Reporting 

Arrangements 
and 

Timescales 
This will include: 

 Reviewing the use of fuel cards, bunker fuel and 

reimbursement schemes; and 

 Establish the adequacy of the systems for 

recording of private and official business mileage in 

line with the above regulations and Council 

policies. 

5 HR and Payroll 

To evaluate the effectiveness of the control procedures 

in place to ensure that all staff payments are 

appropriately authorised i.e. starters, movers, leavers 

and retained firefighters are paid the correct amounts, 

any variations to pay details are authorised and 

actioned correctly and in a timely manner (e.g. 

overtime, annual increments, re-grading, changes in 

hours worked, service benefits), and salary payments 

for leavers cease at the right time and in compliance 

with the relevant policies including Accounting 

Instruction No.13 (Payroll Procedures), and the relevant 

GFRS Terms and Conditions e.g. Gold Book. 

 

 

 

 

A Terms of Reference in 

respect of this review will 

be produced by IA and 

agreed with the 

Managing Director / 

Commissioning Director - 

Jon McGinty and Head 

of HR and OD – Mandy 

Quayle. 

 

 

 

 

 

Compliance testing 

will commence 

during Qtr. 3/4 

2018/2019.  

 

 

Managing Director / 

Commissioning Director - 

Jon McGinty  

 

Ongoing progress 

updates will be 

provided to the 

AGC. 

P
age 58



Gloucestershire County Council – September 18 

 

010605/19/003: GFRS Investigation  v1.0 
OFFICIAL 

10 

 

 Recommendation Progress to date Internal Audits 
(IA) Role 

Lead Officer Proposed 
Reporting 

Arrangements 
and 

Timescales 
a) Recruitment, Progression and Retirement 

Ensure the recruitment, progression and retirement 

(pensions) processes within GFRS are in compliance 

with the Council/GFRS policies and procedures.  

b) Absence reporting procedures 

To ascertain the GFRS compliance with the Council’s 

sickness, absence and attendance management and 

reporting procedures. 

c) Expenses and Service Benefits 

To establish compliance with Accounting Instruction 

No.8 (Travelling and Meal Expenditure), GCC policies 

such as Staff Travel Expenses and Use of Vehicles and 

service benefit entitlements (where applicable) such as 

subscriptions to professional bodies, medical, dental, 

optical and clothing expenses. 

d) Complaints/Grievances process 

To ascertain the process for receiving and recording 

complaints/grievances raised by staff and to ensure that 

they are dealt with in a consistent, fair and appropriate 

way. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A Terms of Reference in 

respect of this review will 

be produced by IA and 

agreed with the above 

officers and the Director: 

Strategy and Challenge 

– Jane Burns. 

P
age 59



Gloucestershire County Council – September 18 

 

010605/19/003: GFRS Investigation  v1.0 
OFFICIAL 

11 

 

 Recommendation Progress to date Internal Audits 
(IA) Role 

Lead Officer Proposed 
Reporting 

Arrangements 
and 

Timescales 
6 Procurement 

To evaluate the GFRS procurement system in place to 

ensure alignment with EU legislation, and for 

compliance with GCC and local policies and procedures 

(including Accounting Instruction No.1 Ordering, 

Receiving and Payment of Goods and Services, 

Contract Standing Orders and Financial Regulations). 

This audit will include the review of the use of the 

Council’s procurement cards (P Cards) process by 

GFRS staff to ensure that goods and services 

purchased are in compliance with Council policies, 

value for money is achieved and where appropriate 

VAT is reclaimed on purchases made (Accounting 

Instruction No.16 (VAT)). 

 

A Terms of Reference in 

respect of this review will 

be produced by IA and 

agreed with the 

Managing Director / 

Commissioning Director - 

Jon McGinty and Head 

of Commercial – Ian 

Mawdsley. 

 

Compliance testing 

will commence 

during Qtr. 3 /4 

2018/2019.  

 

 

Managing Director / 

Commissioning Director - 

Jon McGinty 

 

Ongoing progress 

updates will be 

provided to the 

AGC. 

7 Capital Programme 

This review will seek to provide assurance that GFRS 

has a robust governance framework in place for 

management of the Capital Programme and is 

compliant with good practice requirements as published 

in CIPFA guidance and Accounting Instruction No.19 

(Capital Programme).  

 

A Terms of Reference in 

respect of this review will 

be produced by IA and 

agreed with the 

Managing Director / 

Commissioning Director - 

Jon McGinty and Head 

of Financial Management 

– Paul Blacker. 

 

Compliance testing 

will commence 

during Qtr. 4 

2018/2019.  

 

 

Managing Director / 

Commissioning Director - 

Jon McGinty 

 

 

Ongoing progress 

updates will be 

provided to the 

AGC. 

P
age 60



Gloucestershire County Council – September 18 

 

010605/19/003: GFRS Investigation  v1.0 
OFFICIAL 

12 

 

 Recommendation Progress to date Internal Audits 
(IA) Role 

Lead Officer Proposed 
Reporting 

Arrangements 
and 

Timescales 
8 Income  (including petty cash) 

The audit will seek to evaluate the effectiveness of the 

income and cash handling procedures; and compliance 

with Financial Regulations, Accounting Instructions 

No.2 (Income), No.3 (Security of Cash) and No.6 (Petty 

Cash Imprest Accounts). 

 

A Terms of Reference in 

respect of this review will 

be produced by IA and 

agreed with the 

Managing Director / 

Commissioning Director - 

Jon McGinty and Head 

of Financial Management 

– Paul Blacker. 

 

Compliance testing 

will commence 

during Qtr. 4 

2018/2019.  

 

 

Managing Director / 

Commissioning Director - 

Jon McGinty 

 

 

Ongoing progress 

updates will be 

provided to the 

AGC. 

9 Budget Setting and Budget Monitoring  

This review will seek to establish the effectiveness of 

the budget setting process and relevant control 

arrangements to provide assurance that an accurate 

and operationally reflective budget is set prior to the 

start of the financial year. 

In addition, the audit will also review the robustness of 

the budget monitoring system to ensure that forecasts 

submitted are accurate and reflect the actual and 

planned spend (Accounting Instruction No.14 (Budget 

Estimates and Monitoring Procedures)). 

 

 

 

A Terms of Reference in 

respect of this review will 

be produced by IA and 

agreed with the 

Managing / 

Commissioning Director - 

Jon McGinty and Head 

of Financial Management 

– Paul Blacker. 

 

 

Compliance testing 

will commence 

during Qtr. 4 

2018/2019.  

 

 

Managing Director / 

Commissioning Director - 

Jon McGinty 

 

 

Ongoing progress 

updates will be 

provided to the 

AGC. 

P
age 61



Gloucestershire County Council – September 18 

 

010605/19/003: GFRS Investigation  v1.0 
OFFICIAL 

13 

 

 Recommendation Progress to date Internal Audits 
(IA) Role 

Lead Officer Proposed 
Reporting 

Arrangements 
and 

Timescales 

Internal Audit Reviews – Council wide 

10 Council Wide Compliance Reviews 

In addition to the above, during the next 18 months, IA 

to undertaken ‘pure compliance’ audits across the 

whole Council. These audits will review compliance with 

the Council’s key corporate policies (financial and non 

financial). 

 

 

 

Discussion at the July 

2018 AGC supported the 

approach of considering 

Council wide compliance 

audits in the event of any 

learning points arising 

from the GFRS reviews, 

together with any re-

prioritisation of the 

2018/19 Internal Audit 

plan as required. 

 

In addition, audit 

activities to be 

developed as part 

of the risk based 

internal audit 

planning process 

2019/20. 

 

Director: Strategic Finance 

and Enabling Services – 

Jo Walker 

 

Outcomes to be 

presented to the 

AGC as part of 

the quarterly 

Internal Audit 

progress reports 

during 2019/20. 

11 Governance Assurance Statements 

To test the adequacy of the 2018/19 Directors and 

Heads of Service Governance Assurance Statements.  

 

Discussion at the July 

2018 AGC resulted in a 

request that IA undertake 

a review of the adequacy 

of the 2018/19 Directors 

and Heads of Service 

Governance Assurance 

Statements.  

 

This audit activity 

to be incorporated 

into Quarter 1 of 

the 2019/20 

Internal Audit Plan. 

 

Director: Strategic Finance 

and Enabling Services – 

Jo Walker 

 

Outcomes to be 

presented to the 

AGC as part of 

the quarterly 

internal audit 

progress reports 

during 2019/20. 

 

 

P
age 62



Audit and Governance Committee
Date: 12th October 2018 Agenda No:

Title of Report: Internal Audit activity progress report 2018/2019

Purpose of Report: To inform Members of the progress of Internal Audit activity in relation 
to the 2018/2019 Internal Audit Plan and provide a progress report in 
relation to those audits undertaken during the period July to September 
2018.

Recommendations: It is recommended that the Committee:

1. Notes the amendments to and progress against the 2018/2019 
Internal Audit Plan; and

2. Notes the assurance opinions provided in relation to the 
effectiveness of the Council’s control environment comprising risk 
management, control and governance arrangements as a result of 
the internal audit activity completed to date.

Officer (s) Contact: Theresa Mortimer: Head of Audit Risk Assurance (ARA), Area Finance 
Office and Insurance Services  
Tel: 01452 328883
theresa.mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Jo Walker: Director - Strategic Finance and Enabling Services
Tel: 01452 328469
joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Key Risks Failure to deliver an effective Internal Audit Service will prevent an 
independent, objective assurance opinion to be provided to those 
charged with governance that the key risks associated with the 
achievement of the Council’s objectives are being adequately 
controlled. 

Page 63

Agenda Item 7

mailto:theresa.mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



INTERNAL AUDIT ACTIVITY  
PROGRESS REPORT 

2018/19

Page 65



1

(1) Introduction

All local authorities must make proper provision for internal audit in line with the 1972 Local 
Government Act (S151) and the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. The latter states that 
a relevant authority “must undertake an effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness 
of its risk management, control and governance processes, taking into account public sector 
internal auditing standards or guidance”. The Internal Audit Service is provided by Audit Risk 
Assurance under a Shared Service agreement between Gloucestershire County Council, 
Stroud District Council and Gloucester City Council and carries out the work required to 
satisfy this legislative requirement and reports its findings and conclusions to management 
and to this Committee.

The guidance accompanying the Regulations recognises the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards 2017 (PSIAS) as representing “proper internal audit practices”. The standards 
define the way in which the Internal Audit Service should be established and undertakes its 
functions. 

(2) Responsibilities 

Management are responsible for establishing and maintaining appropriate risk management 
processes, control systems (financial and non financial) and governance arrangements. 

Internal Audit plays a key role in providing independent assurance and advising the 
organisation that these arrangements are in place and operating effectively.

Internal Audit is not the only source of assurance for the Council. There are a range of 
external audit and inspection agencies as well as management processes which also 
provide assurance and these are set out in the Council’s Code of Corporate Governance 
and its Annual Governance Statement.  

(3) Purpose of this Report

One of the key requirements of the standards is that the Chief Internal Auditor should 
provide progress reports on internal audit activity to those charged with governance. This 
report summarises:

 The progress against the 2018/19 Internal Audit Programme, including the 
assurance opinions on the effectiveness of risk management and control processes;

 The outcomes of the Internal Audit activity during the period July to September 2018; 
and

 Special investigations/counter fraud activity.

Page 66



Appendix 1

2

(4) Progress against the 2018/19 Internal Audit Programme, including the 
assurance opinions on risk and control

The schedule provided at Appendix 1 provides the summary of 2018/19 audits which have 
not previously been reported to the Audit and Governance Committee.

The schedule provided at Appendix 2 contains a list of all of the audit activity undertaken 
during 2018/19, which includes, where relevant, the assurance opinions on the effectiveness 
of risk management arrangements and control processes in place to manage those risks and 
the dates where a summary of the activities outcomes has been presented to the Audit and 
Governance Committee. Explanations of the meaning of these opinions are shown below. 

Assurance 
Levels

Risk Identification Maturity Control Environment

Substantial Risk Managed
Service area fully aware of the risks relating 
to the area under review and the impact that 
these may have on service delivery, other 
service areas, finance, reputation, legal, the 
environment, client/customer/partners, and 
staff.  All key risks are accurately reported 
and monitored in line with the Corporate Risk 
Management Strategy. 

 System Adequacy – 
Robust framework of 
controls ensures that there 
is a high likelihood of 
objectives being achieved

 Control Application – 
Controls are applied 
continuously or with minor 
lapses

Satisfactory Risk Aware
Service area has an awareness of the risks 
relating to the area under review and the 
impact that these may have on service 
delivery, other service areas, finance, 
reputation, legal, the environment, 
client/customer/partners, and staff, however 
some key risks are not being accurately 
reported and monitored in line with the 
Corporate Risk Management Strategy.

 System Adequacy – 
Sufficient framework of 
key controls for objectives 
to be achieved but, control 
framework could be 
stronger

 Control Application – 
Controls are applied but 
with some lapses

Limited Risk Naïve 
Due to an absence of accurately and 
regularly reporting and monitoring of the 
key risks in line with the Corporate Risk 
Management Strategy, the service area 
has not demonstrated an satisfactory 
awareness of the risks relating to the area 
under review and the impact that these 
may have on service delivery, other 
service areas, finance, reputation, legal, 
the environment, client/customer/partners 
and staff.  

 System Adequacy – Risk 
of objectives not being 
achieved due to the 
absence of key internal 
controls

 Control Application – 
Significant breakdown in 
the application of 
control

Page 67



Appendix 1

3

(4a) Summary of Internal Audit Assurance Opinions on Risk and Control

The pie charts provided below show the summary of the risk and control assurance opinions 
provided within each category of opinion i.e. substantial, satisfactory and limited in relation to 
the audit activity undertaken during the period April 2018 to September 2018.

Page 68



Appendix 1

4

(4b) Limited Control Assurance Opinions 

Where audit activity records that a limited assurance opinion on control has been provided, 
the Audit and Governance Committee may request Senior Management attendance to the 
next meeting of the Committee to provide an update as to their actions taken to address the 
risks and associated recommendations identified by Internal Audit. 

(4c) Audit Activity where a Limited Assurance Opinion has been provided on 
Control

During the period July to September 2018, no limited assurance opinions on control have 
been provided on completed audits from the 2018/19 Internal Audit Plan. 

(4d) Satisfactory Control Assurance Opinions

Where audit activity records that a satisfactory assurance opinion on control has been 
provided, where recommendations have been made to reflect some improvements in 
control, the Committee can take assurance that improvement actions have been agreed with 
management to address these. 

(4e) Internal Audit Recommendations

During the period July 2018 to September 2018 Internal Audit made, in total, 18 
recommendations to improve the control environment, 10 of these being high priority 
recommendations (100% of these being accepted by management) and 8 being medium 
priority recommendations (100% accepted by management). 

The Committee can take assurance that all high priority recommendations will remain under 
review by Internal Audit, by obtaining regular management updates, until the required action 
has been fully completed. 

(4f) Risk Assurance Opinions

During the period July to September 2018, no limited assurance opinions on risk have been 
provided on completed audits from the 2018/19 Internal Audit Plan. 

Where a limited assurance opinion is given, the Shared Service Senior Risk Management 
Advisor will be provided with the Internal Audit report(s) to enable the prioritisation of risk 
management support. 

Page 69



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

5

Completed Internal Audit Activity during the period July to September 2018

Summary of Satisfactory Assurance Opinions on Control

Service Area: Strategic Finance (Core Cluster – Business Service Centre) 

Audit Activity: Payroll – Accuracy of Payments

Background
The Business Service Centre (BSC) operates a payroll service for Gloucestershire County 
Council (GCC) employees, Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) pensions and for a 
number of different outside organisations as traded services.

A core payroll service objective is to pay staff accurately and on time taking into 
consideration payroll deductions ensuring that all payments are appropriately authorised 
before being processed. Deductions are made from salaries in respect of tax, national 
insurance (NI), pension contributions (to various pension providers), salary sacrifice 
schemes, attachment of earnings orders, and other approved schemes. The Council 
operates integrated Human Resources (HR) and Payroll modules within SAP (the Council’s 
finance and payroll system) to facilitate the calculation of pay for its employees.

Approximately two thirds of the Council's expenditure relates to pay. GCC employ around 
12,000 full and part time staff, making it important that they control and monitor pay costs 
very carefully.

Scope
The audit reviewed the effectiveness of the management control framework in place which 
ensures the accuracy of payments, salary management and reporting for both regular and 
supplementary payments and for deductions.

Risk Assurance – Satisfactory

Control Assurance – Satisfactory

Key Findings
System parameters set within SAP control the level of tax, NI and student loans. Parameter 
changes are delivered by the systems provider, SAP. A combination of testing by GCC and 
the system provider has proven an adequate mitigating control to the risk of system 
parameter change error. 

Requests are made to the Systems Team to make changes to basic pay grading and Spinal 
Column Points (SCPs) such as pay awards. Control sheets are used to ensure all necessary 
steps are completed. Testing is undertaken by the requesting team to ensure the accuracy 
of the system. Due to the relative simplicity of this task for updating pay scales for GCC, the 
controls in place are suitable to mitigate risks to an acceptable level.

Page 70



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

6

Payroll procedures, assigning pay to employees and processing leavers, are detailed in 
Accounting Instruction 13. A review by Internal Audit of the instruction found that the 
document does not allow service area managers to access the required information 
surrounding maintaining staffing structures, and the procedure for completing e-forms for 
both assigning pay to new starters or processing leavers.

Internal Audit sample tested 10 new starters from April 2017 to February 2018 and found 
that in all cases the start date and grade/SCP entered on the e-form directly corresponded to 
the information within SAP, with the payslip for all 10 starters correctly calculating the basic 
pay for the month in which the employee started.  

Processing leaver’s entitlements is also handled via an e-form. Internal Audit reviewed a 
sample of 18 leaver’s payments. All 18 were confirmed as correctly calculated within SAP for 
both basic pay and holiday pay entitlements. 

Extensive testing was completed by the BSC prior to the implementation of SAP Standard 
Maternity. Testing proved that Statutory Maternity Pay (SMP) is being calculated as required 
by legislation and as previously calculated by GCC. Internal Audit sample tested four 
maternity payments made using SAP Standard Maternity and found that the SMP payments 
were in line with legislation as required.

OMP calculations are currently completed through two different routes – manual calculations 
for OMP over 20 weeks and SAP calculations for OMP over 12 weeks. Internal Audit review 
identified that the process for calculating OMP with salary sacrifice across the two routes is 
not standardised and a recommendation was made to rectify this.

Special payments outside of the normal payroll runs are occasionally required. The control 
process for special payments ensures that both calculation and input are checked before 
they are processed, with both stages requiring appropriate sign off before the payment can 
be progressed. Internal Audit tested eight special payments and found that in all cases the 
process as intended had been followed, with appropriate authorisation evidenced. 

Internal Audit sample tested five honorarium payments to ensure that the forms submitted 
had been signed off appropriately and input correctly. Internal Audit testing found that in all 
five cases an appropriate form had been completed and signed off by a Director and that all 
inputs from the BSC were accurate to that of the form.

Exception and variance reports are run and checked line by line by Pay and Conditions 
monthly. Internal Audit found that the current process does not enable the checking officer to 
verify if the case on the variance report is legitimate or appropriate as they do not have 
sufficient information. Currently the control cannot provide suitable assurance that, if 
identified on the checking reports, errors are being rectified before the pay run.

Page 71



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

7

Conclusion
Internal Audit has confirmed the risk of payment error is mitigated by an effective control 
framework. The current processes for making parameter changes to SAP have proven a 
satisfactory mitigating control, allowing GCC to identify issues within the system with 
processes in place to rectify problems affecting GCC operations. 

The implementation and adaptation to using SAP Standard Maternity is still being worked 
through. It is understood that the processes are still being optimised to utilise the system and 
guarantee the accuracy of the payments for all different maternity scenarios. 

Management Actions
Management have responded positively to the three recommendations made in relation to 
updating Accounting Instruction 13 to include the necessary information for GCC Managers, 
ensuring maternity payments are being calculated consistently with a standardised approach 
and to review the exception and variance control procedures to ensure they mitigate risk and 
add value to the process. 

Service Area: Strategic Finance (Core Cluster – Asset Management and 
Property Services (AMPS))

Audit Activity: Property Services Contract - Corporate Cleaning Contract 

Background
The Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) cleaning contract started on 1st August 2014.  
The initial term of the contract was three years, with an option to extend for a further period 
of up to four years.  This extension option was taken up in 2017 and the contract will now 
expire on 31st July 2021.  The annual value of the contract is approximately £2.4m.

The contract covers cleaning at Shire Hall as well as all GCC owned buildings, schools 
(maintained and academies), libraries and other establishments and is undertaken by two 
contractors.  The service is split into three ‘Lots’, covering the geographical areas as follows:

 Gloucester and Forest of Dean;
 Stroud and South Cotswolds; and
 Cheltenham, Tewkesbury and North Cotswolds.

The Council’s Contract Management Framework (CMF) lays down the expected 
requirements for contract management and monitoring arrangements, to ensure that a 
consistent approach is adopted across GCC.

Page 72



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

8

Scope
This review sought to determine whether there are adequate and effective arrangements in 
place for the management and monitoring of the cleaning contract and that these are in 
compliance with the mandatory requirements as detailed within the Council’s CMF.

Risk Assurance – Satisfactory

Control Assurance – Satisfactory

Key Findings
Internal Audit found that the contract management and monitoring arrangements of the 
corporate cleaning contract are in compliance with the mandatory tasks, as specified within 
the CMF.  Two areas were identified by Internal Audit as requiring further work and, although 
not classed as mandatory in the CMF, are important for any contract, namely risk 
management and business continuity arrangements.

There is a risk register in place within AMPS for the cleaning contract but it has not been 
reviewed and updated since 2015.  There is no business continuity plan in place detailing 
how service will be maintained following any disruption to that service.  This is part of the 
contract management responsibilities covered in the CMF.  It is not known whether the 
contractors have their own risk registers and business continuity plans, this should be 
established by the contract managers.

There are effective monitoring arrangements in place to ensure that the service provided by 
the contractors is to the standard as detailed in the contract.  This includes meetings with the 
contractors and monitoring visits to sites by both the contractors’ staff and GCC staff, both 
with a focus on service delivery and contract Key Performance Indicator achievement.

Conclusion
At the point of the audit the contract management and monitoring arrangements are in 
compliance with the CMF, with the exception of the risk management and business 
continuity arrangements.

Two recommendations have been made to address these findings and once implemented 
should further strengthen the control framework for the management of this contract.

In addition, Internal Audit is currently in liaison with the Commercial Team to discuss the 
Risk Management and Business Continuity Planning guidance within the CMF to ensure it is 
up to date and adequate.

Management Actions
Management has responded positively to the recommendations made in respect of the 
issues identified.

Page 73



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

9

Service Area: Communities and Infrastructure

Audit Activity: Section 106 Agreements - Bond Policy 

Background
Planning obligations under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended) are legal agreements between local authorities, developers, land owners and 
other affected parties and can be attached to a planning permission to make a development 
proposal acceptable in planning terms, that may not otherwise be acceptable. Section 106 
(S106) Agreements are designed to help mitigate the effects of the development on the 
infrastructure and the services the Council is responsible for delivering. They are often 
referred to as 'developer contributions' along with highway contributions and the Community 
Infrastructure Levy.

S106 Agreement potential risks include that planning obligations are under-delivered or that 
a financial default occurs. To mitigate this risk, the Council should assess each relevant 
planning obligation to determine whether or not a bond or other form of surety (e.g. cash 
deposit) is required to guarantee third party security. 

Scope
This audit reviewed the administration of S106 Agreement bonds and compliance with 
Council policy for this area.

Risk Assurance – Satisfactory

Control Assurance – Satisfactory

Key Findings
The Gloucestershire Local Developer Guide was adopted by the Council in December 2016 
(following Cabinet approval) and confirms the Council’s developer contribution protocol. The 
guide confirms that the Council will consider bonds or sureties per S106 Agreement and that 
a risk assessment will be completed as part of the decision, supported by a high level 
flowchart confirming the decision route to be applied (including a risk assessment).

Review of the MasterGov system (the Council’s overarching record of all current and 
completed planning applications) at the point of audit identified that since January 2017, 17 
agreed planning applications had a S106 bond in place.  

Audit sample testing of six of the 17 cases, confirmed:

 For all six cases: actioning of the bond was requested and authorised by appropriate 
officers though a signed S106 Agreement instruction form; a formal, signed bond 
statement existed within each relevant S106 Agreement; and there was appropriate 
evidence of bond trigger monitoring by a relevant officer through the ModernGov 
system; 

Page 74



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

10

 Five cases had email audit trail to confirm evidence of S106 Agreement risk 
assessment, rationale for bond decision and  developer negotiation; and 

 One case had no audit trail for S106 Agreement risk assessment, rationale for bond 
decision (other than the S106 Agreement instruction form requesting that a bond is 
actioned) and developer negotiation. 

The main cases within audit sample testing were the S106 Agreements and bonding 
arrangements within Highways, Education and Libraries. 

Discussion with the S106 Negotiator (responsible for community infrastructure 
requirements), identified that there is no documented process/form (below the Local 
Developer Guide) outlining the duties of the officer responsible for S106 negotiations, 
detailing the specific criteria to be reviewed when assessing the risks of each development 
in order to support the S106 bond decision. No formal consistent record is documented 
showing the risk analysis completed in order to determine whether a bond is required; or the 
developer discussion/negotiation process on the area. 

It is also noted that the Council is heavily reliant on the process knowledge and experience 
of a single officer in regards to the community infrastructure S106 bond risk assessment, 
negotiation and decision.  This risk is not present within highways obligations review, which 
draws from a pool of senior officers to lead on S106 negotiation and instruction. 

S106 bond monitoring is completed by the S106 Monitoring Officer. Audit review and sample 
testing confirmed that appropriate and effective monitoring takes place, ensuring that 
evidence of bonding exists and that a bond can be called in if necessary. 

Audit testing also confirmed that an effective procedure is in place for the release of a bond, 
once the developer’s contributions are paid or delivered in full. 

Conclusion
Based on the audit testing outcomes, satisfactory assurance can be provided that the 
Council’s Section 106 bonding processes and controls are mainly negotiated, recorded and 
monitored effectively. One medium priority audit recommendation has been raised to further 
strengthen the Council’s S106 bond procedures to ensure consistency, clarity and 
transparency of the risk assessment (prior to bond decision) approach.  

Management Actions
Management have responded positively to the recommendation raised.

Page 75



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

11

Service Area: Pensions 

Audit Activity: Admitted Bodies

Background
The County Council is the designated statutory body (Administering Authority) responsible 
for administering the Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) Fund on 
behalf of its admitted bodies.

When employers who participate in the LGPS outsource their services, the employees are 
transferred under Transfer of Undertakings Protection of Employment (TUPE) to the new 
employer. The new employer is required to honour the employees’ existing terms and 
conditions and can therefore apply to become an admitted body to the pension scheme so 
that their employees can continue to contribute to their LGPS pension.

Scope
The objective of the audit was to review the following:

 The effectiveness of the processes in place for admitting new employers to the LGPS  
(including consideration and application of relevant regulations and guidance, e.g. the 
Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) ‘Admitted body status 
provisions in the LGPS when services are transferred from a local authority or other 
scheme employer’ guidance); and

 The legal agreements underpinning the admitted body arrangements including any 
bonds needing to be put in place by the employers.

Risk Assurance – Substantial

Control Assurance – Satisfactory

Key Findings
Regulations are in place which governs the administration of admitted body arrangements 
and these have been taken into account by the Pensions Investments team and the 
Pensions Administration team when developing local processes for admitting new employers 
to the LGPS.  There are a number of stakeholders involved in the end-to-end process and it 
is important to ensure that a system owner is identified, that the processes are formalised 
and that all stakeholders are aware of their respective responsibilities.

As at the date of the audit there were 38 active admitted bodies and a sample of seven 
admitted bodies (18%) was selected for testing from the period October 2014 to April 2017. 

Page 76



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

12

Roles and responsibilities within the Pensions Investments team have recently been 
reallocated and as part of this, the admitted body processes are being reviewed.  Internal 
Audit was requested to provide advice and guidance as part of this review process and as 
such a number of recommendations have been made which should contribute towards an 
improved system of control. Internal Audit recommendations cover the following areas: 

 The lead times required for all the stages in the admitted body process should be 
clearly laid out and communicated to all parties concerned;

 All potential actuarial charges should be clearly laid out and communicated so that all 
new employers will be aware of their potential pension-related liabilities for any 
services that have been outsourced;

 Where an organisation is planning to act as guarantor for an outsourced contract, an 
opportunity should be provided for potential pension liabilities to be quantified and 
communicated to allow informed decisions to be made;

 Controls should be put in place to ensure that pension contributions will not be 
accepted by the Pension Fund until Pension Committee approval has been given;

 Pension contributions should only be taken for eligible employees that have TUPE 
transferred under the new contract and the admission agreement should not be 
signed until this issue has been resolved;

 The information pack about the collection of contribution data and payments from the 
new employers should be sent out by the Pensions Investments team for all new 
admission agreements that are put in place irrespective of whether the employer has 
previously been an admitted body; and

 Notifications to the DCLG should be sent for all new admission agreements that are 
put in place irrespective of whether the employer has previously been an admitted 
body (as required by regulations).

Conclusion
There is a defined process in place for admitting new employers to the LGPS and there is 
sufficient evidence to support that this process is operating in practice.  Core regulatory 
requirements are being met which include the signing of admission agreements and bonds 
where necessary.

Following roles and responsibilities reallocation within the Pensions Investment team, 
Internal Audit was requested to provide advice and guidance as part of this review process. 
As such a number of recommendations have been made (as referred to within Key Findings) 
which should contribute towards an improved system of control.

Management Actions
Management has responded positively to the recommendations that were made.

Page 77



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

13

Service Area: Children and Families

Audit Activity: Nursey Education Funding – Hourly Rate

Background
All children between the ages of 3 and 4 in England get 570 free hours of nursery education 
funding per year, often taken as 15 hours per week for 38 weeks of the year. The funding is 
also made available to 2-year-olds if they meet the eligibility criteria. Since 1st September 
2017, working parents of 3- and 4-year-old children can access the funded extended 
childcare entitlement detailed in the Childcare Act 2016. Nursery placements actually taken 
up are decided between the private nurseries and the parents.

Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) currently pays Early Years providers the following 
rates for each child:

 2-year-olds hourly rate: £4.91; and

 3- and 4-year-olds hourly rate: £3.90.

Scope
The objective of the audit was to review the process for determining the hourly rate paid to 
Early Years providers for 2-, 3 - and 4-year-olds to ensure that there is an appropriate:

 transparent methodology in place for GCC to determine the hourly rates to be paid; 
and

 governance structure in place to approve and implement the hourly rates paid for 
nursery education.

Risk Assurance – Satisfactory

Control Assurance – Satisfactory

Key Findings
The local funding formula used to pay providers for 3- and 4-year-olds includes all the 
required elements as set out by the Department for Education’s (DfE) December 2016 
consultation, namely:

 A required base hourly rate for all 3- and 4-year-olds;

 The required ‘pass-through’ percentage (the amount required to be allocated directly 
to nurseries) of funding for 2017/18 (93%) and 2018/19 (95%); and

Page 78



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

14

 The mandatory deprivation supplement and an allowable quality supplement. All 
supplementary payments total 4.5% of funding which is below the maximum 10% as 
set by the Education and Skills Funding Agency ‘Early Years Entitlements: 
operational guide’. 

GCC fulfilled the requirements as set by the Schools Forum Regulations 2012 and Schools 
Forum Powers and Responsibilities by proposing and getting agreement of centrally retained 
funding for 3- and 4-year-olds and consulting the Forum on the local funding formula 
providing a clear breakdown of all elements. However, there was no formal record of how 
the final decision for the local funding formula was made within GCC.

There is no evidence of how the local funding formula for the calculation of rates paid for 2-
year-olds was recommended to the Gloucestershire Schools Forum. Whilst the January 
2017 report presented to the Gloucestershire Schools Forum suggested that if the funding 
rate of £5.28 was received it would enable an hourly rate of £4.91 to be paid, no breakdown 
of the formula of how this was calculated was provided.

A pass through rate is not prescribed by the DfE for 2-years-olds. The Lead Commissioner 
for Education Strategy and Development confirmed that the 2017/18 rate paid for 2 year olds 
was calculated by applying the confirmed 3- and 4-years-olds pass through percentage of 
93%, resulting in a £4.91 hourly rate. 7% funding retention for this age group was deemed 
consistent and reasonable, to cover the administration and management costs of the funding 
scheme. Whilst the current formula used for 2-year-olds has not been presented to the 
Gloucestershire Schools Forum and formally agreed within GCC, it does nevertheless meet 
all DfE requirements. 

Conclusion
The hourly rate for 3- and 4-year-olds includes all mandatory elements and the allowable 
quality supplement. GCC has provided the Gloucestershire Schools Forum with all required 
information to allow for scrutiny and challenge regarding the hourly rate for 3- and 4-year-
olds. However, the decision as to which rate to pay has not been formally documented within 
GCC.

The methodology for the calculation of the hourly rate paid for 2-year-olds is not transparent 
and the required governance processes for the approval of the rate have not been followed. 
However, the funding formula that GCC is currently using does meet all the requirements as 
set by the guidance.

Management Actions
Internal Audit has made one recommendation for the correct governance process to be 
followed which should ensure that methodologies applied are transparent (to the 
Gloucestershire Schools Forum and the public) and that decisions made by GCC about 
which rate to pay are formally recorded. Management have responded positively to this 
recommendation.

Page 79



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

15

Service Area: Education

Audit Activity: Direct Payments (DP) (Children) follow-up

Background
The findings of the Direct Payments (DP) (Children) report dated August 2016 identified that 
the DP expenditure was not always in line with the purposes intended. It further identified the 
parents/carers were not always complying with the DP Agreement (DPA) requirement to 
supply information to the Council, such as bank statements and receipts etc., on request. 

As a result of difficulties encountered in obtaining all of the information in relation to each DP 
case in the sample selected, Internal Audit was unable to provide assurance that the DPs 
were always being spent in accordance with the agreed care plan and DPA, and this 
resulted in limited assurance in both risk identification and management of those risks 
identified.

Scope
The objective of the audit was to establish whether the appropriate actions emanating from 
the Internal Audit report: Direct Payments (Childrens) issued in August 2016 have been 
undertaken.

Risk Assurance – Substantial

Control Assurance – Satisfactory

Key Findings
Internal Audit, working with the Disabled Children and Young People’s team reviewed the 
five cases identified in the original audit as requiring additional scrutiny.  

Where expenditure was not found to be in line with the terms of the DPA, the parents were 
contacted and asked to provide documentation e.g. receipts, timesheets, correspondence 
from the Council that evidenced that the DP expenditure was in accordance with the DP 
agreement, or repayment of the amounts identified was required.    

To date £17,662.80 has been recovered and another £4,235 is pending. Internal Audit 
continues to work with the Disabled and Young People’s team to analyse the expenditure 
going through the DP bank accounts and subsequently recover money that has not been 
spent in accordance with the DPA/support plan.

In addition, new and more robust procedures have been introduced to increase the scrutiny 
of expenditure going through the DP bank accounts. This has in turn identified issues with 
other cases resulting in changes to the DPA, short term suspension of DP payments and in 
some cases recovery of monies where expenditure incurred was not in line with the 
DPA/support plan.

Page 80



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

16

A DP card payment scheme has recently been introduced. Payment cards are being issued 
for new DP’s as they are set up and those with existing DP accounts will be moved across to 
the payment card scheme at the point at which their support plan is reviewed.  

Conclusion
It is anticipated that the implementation of a DP card scheme will enable the Council to have 
greater control over DP bank accounts and the expenditure being incurred. 

However, a monitoring system will still be required to run alongside this in order to review the 
bank accounts on an ongoing basis and must request information not made available 
through the payment card scheme. The payment card scheme will not negate the 
requirement to monitor the completion of timesheets when Personal Assistants are 
employed to provide support to the children and young people, or the need to retain receipts 
to support the expenses met from the DP bank account.

As the introduction of the DP card scheme is still in its infancy, Internal Audit has not been 
able to provide an assurance opinion as to how or whether this scheme has improved the 
monitoring and management of DP payments.

Internal Audit will revisit this area in 2019/20 to assess the impact of the DP card scheme 
introduction.

Management Actions
There were no recommendations emanating from this review. Satisfactory control assurance 
has been allocated, due to the ongoing service actions in progress as referred to above (e.g. 
DP card scheme direction of travel and the specific DP case actions).

Summary of Substantial Assurance Opinions on Control

Service Area: Childrens’ and Families

Audit Activity: ContrOCC (Childrens’)

Background
ContrOCC is an electronic payment system for managing service contracts and supplier 
payments and it was implemented in Childrens’ social services in November 2015.  It is 
currently used to calculate payments for in-house Foster Carers, Short Breaks, Special 
Guardianship Orders (SGOs), Adoption Allowances, Residence Orders, One Child 
Arrangement Orders and Regulation 24 Placements.

ContrOCC interfaces with both the Liquidlogic case management system and the SAP 
financial system to allow payments to be processed automatically.

Page 81



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

17

Scope
The objectives of the audit were to review the following:

 The effectiveness of data input to Liquidlogic that allows payments to be made;

 The controls that are in place to ensure that payments will be made in a timely and 
accurate manner; and

 The effectiveness of management reporting from ContrOCC.

Risk Assurance – Satisfactory

Control Assurance – Substantial

Key Findings
Data input

Source documentation is used to support the input to Liquidlogic.  There is good separation 
of duties between Admin’s role for inputting data and the managers’ role for authorising 
transactions prior to a payment file being created in ContrOCC.  Admin do not have 
authorisation rights and the managers do not have the ability to edit the data prior to 
authorisation.

Authorisation of the payment file

A comprehensive set of procedures is available in Care Services Finance for the 
authorisation of the payment file in ContrOCC.  One member of staff has primary 
responsibility for authorising the payment file but another member of staff is also trained in 
the process.

The main focus of the payment file authorisation process is for the Task Lead to review an 
exceptions report.  This highlights payments that could potentially undermine the integrity of 
the payment file and result in incorrect/invalid payments being made.

At present, the exceptions report does not include a threshold above which all payments will 
be highlighted for review.  It also does not include any potential duplicate payments for 
review and consideration should be given to including both of these items in the exceptions 
report.

In some cases, Manual Adjustments are required and this is the only way that payment 
amounts in the payment file can be altered.  Because the payment amounts can be 
increased as well as decreased through Manual Adjustments, it would be prudent to 
separate the responsibilities for making Manual Adjustments and authorising the payment 
file.

Page 82



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

18

In some cases the carers are overpaid for the services they provide, e.g. where a care 
episode has ended but the end-date has not been entered on Liquidlogic and the payments 
have continued.  ContrOCC will immediately deduct the overpayments from another 
payment that is due if available.  Other than that, the overpayments are carried forward for 
up to a maximum of two pay runs and then invoices are raised which are either paid in full or 
by instalment agreed by the social work manager.  All overpayments are recorded and 
monitored by the Task Lead in Care Services Finance.

Once the payment file has been authorised it is stored in a secure location and then 
interfaces with SAP so that the payments can be made into the vendors’ bank accounts.  
The interfaces are monitored by the SAP Support team but the Task Lead also checks a 
random sample of payments on SAP following each pay run.  Internal Audit tested a random 
sample of May 2018 pay run payments and these were found to be made correctly on SAP.

Management reporting

Management reporting within ContrOCC is currently limited.  The system is able to produce 
statements of annual earnings for the carers and ICT Application Support are currently 
working with staff in Strategic Finance and OCC (the ContrOCC support company) to 
develop reports that would be beneficial for budget monitoring and forecasting.

Conclusion
Good controls are in place for the input and authorisation of data in Liquidlogic.  
Comprehensive procedures are in place for staff to follow as part of the payment file 
authorisation process.  There is also a sufficient number of staff trained in the process to 
allow for business continuity.  There is adequate scrutiny of the payment file that is 
generated by ContrOCC to ensure its integrity prior to being released for payment.

Management Actions
Management has responded positively to the two High priority recommendations that were 
made (regarding Exceptions reporting enhancements and authorisation of Manual 
Adjustments).

Page 83



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

19

Summary of Consulting Activity, Grant Certification and/or Support Delivered 
where no Opinions are provided

No audit assurance opinions on risk and control are provided in this section as this section 
relates to other audit activity such as statutory Chief Internal Auditor grant certification sign 
off and consultancy work i.e. where internal audit advise management on the risk and control 
environment in relation to new and emerging risks, projects, systems and processes to help 
‘design out’ risk at the developmental stage. 

Service Area: Grant Certification (Strategic Finance)

Audit Activity: Community Capacity Grant

Background
In December 2012 the Department of Health (DoH) advised local authorities of their 
allocations under the Adults’ Personal Social Services grant for 2013/14 and 2014/15. As 
part of this allocation, the Community Capacity (Capital) Grant provides capital funding to 
support development in personalisation, reform and efficiency.

Gloucestershire County Council received a Community Capacity (Capital) Grant allocation of 
£1,360,488 in 2013/14 and £1,387,970 in 2014/15. The relevant Grant Determinations 
confirm the grant ‘may be used only for the purposes that a capital receipt may be used for 
in accordance with regulations made under section 11 of the Local Government Act 2003.’

Scope
The Chief Executive and Chief Internal Auditor are required to return to the DoH a 
declaration in the following terms:

 ‘To the best of our knowledge and belief, and having carried out appropriate 
investigations and checks, in our opinion, in all significant respects, the conditions 
attached to the Community Capacity Grant No 31/2219 have been and will be 
complied with’; and

 ‘To the best of our knowledge and belief, and having carried out appropriate 
investigations and checks, in our opinion, in all significant respects, the conditions 
attached to the Community Capacity Grant No 31/2393 have been and will be 
complied with’.

The audit scope was to provide assurance that, in all significant respects the conditions of 
the Grant Determinations have been complied with. The period under audit review was 
2017/18, with consideration of relevant internal audit findings from prior year.

Page 84



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

20

Key Findings
 The Council received Community Capacity (Capital) Grant funding of £1,360,488 in 

2013/14 and £1,387,970 in 2014/15. 

 A total of £2,328,077.70 was brought forward into 2017/18.

 In 2017/18 a total of £303,087.18 was spent from the Community Capacity (Capital) 
scheme, with the remaining balance of £2,024,990.52 being carried forward into 
2018/19.

Conclusion
Based on discussions with officers and a review of records maintained by the Council, 
Internal Audit has gained assurance that the conditions of the Grant Determinations have 
been fulfilled and as such the 2017/18 declaration has been signed and submitted to the 
DoH.  

Management Actions
No management actions required.

Service Area: Grant Certification (Strategic Finance)

Audit Activity: Local Transport Capital Funding Grants

Background
The Department for Transport (DfT) provided Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) capital 
funding for local transport from a number of different capital funding grants in 2017/18. 
Funding included a total of six grants and a total allocation of £27,422,843. This includes the 
additional funding received for both the Pothole Action Fund and Flood Resilience Fund.

Scope
This review was undertaken to ensure that the Integrated Transport and Highway 
Maintenance grant was only used for the purposes that a capital receipt may be used for in 
accordance with regulations made under section 11 of the Local Government Act 2003. 

The Chief Executive and the Chief Internal Auditor were required to sign and return to DfT a 
declaration by 30th September 2018 in the following terms: 

Page 85



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

21

“To the best of our knowledge and belief, and having carried out appropriate investigations 
and checks, in our opinion, in all significant respects, the conditions attached to the Local 
Transport Capital Block Funding (Integrated Transport and Highway Maintenance) Specific 
Grant Determination 2017/18: No 31/2953, Local Transport Capital Block Funding (Pothole 
Action Fund) Specific Grant Determination (2017/18) No.31/2951 and Local Transport 
Capital Block Funding (National Productivity Investment Fund) Specific Grant Determination 
2017/18 No 31/2950 have been complied with”.

“To the best of our knowledge and belief, and having carried out appropriate investigations 
and checks, in our opinion, in all significant respects, the conditions attached to the Local 
Transport Capital Block Funding (Flood Resilience Fund) Specific Grant Determination 
(2017/18) No.31/3296 have been complied with”.

As per Grant Determination 31/3296, the DfT are content for the declaration of the Flood 
Resilience Fund to be combined with the declaration for the Local Transport Capital Block 
Funding 2017/18.

Key Findings
This declaration is made in respect of the £27,422,843 (including the additional funding for 
the Pothole Action Fund and Flood Resilience Fund) grants allocated to the authority under 
the grant determinations detailed above. 

The records supplied by the Strategic Finance Accountant confirm that at the year-end the 
Local Transport Capital Funding Grant expenditure for 2017/18 is £25,565,459. An 
underspend of £1,857,384 has been recorded in 2017/18, against the Flood Resilience Fund 
and Pothole Action Fund due to announcement of the additional funding late in 2017/18. 
However, Strategic Finance has confirmed this funding has been approved and allocated to 
schemes in 2018/19 in line with their respective grant determinations. 

The capital expenditure for the Local Transport Capital Funding is monitored by the Capital 
Accountant who has confirmed that this relates fully to the purchase of capital items, and 
was accounted for as such in the Council’s financial system.

Internal Audit selected and reviewed a sample of transactions and confirmed that 
expenditure is in accordance with the relevant grant conditions.

Conclusion
Based on discussions with officers and a review of records maintained by the Council, 
Internal Audit has gained assurance that the conditions of the grant determinations listed 
above have been fulfilled and as such the declarations have been signed and submitted to 
the DfT.

Management Actions
No management actions are required.

Page 86



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

22

Service Area: Grant Certification (Strategic Finance)

Audit Activity: Highways Maintenance Challenge Fund (Street Lighting)

Background
The Highways Maintenance Challenge Fund supports Gloucestershire County Council’s 
(GCC) £20m Light Emitting Diode (LED) invest-to-save project, converting all street lighting 
to LED by March 2019 utilising a Central Management System (CMS) to maximise energy 
saving, CO2 reduction and maintenance savings. This includes replacing 6,135 aluminium/ 
concrete life-expired columns, which are only inspected visually. The grant allocation for 
2017/18 was £1,857,130.

Scope
The Highways Maintenance Challenge Fund grant may only be used for the purposes that a 
capital receipt may be used for in accordance with regulations made under section 11 of the 
Local Government Act 2003. The Chief Executive and the Chief Internal Auditor are required 
to return to DfT a declaration by 30th September 2018 in the following terms: 

“To the best of our knowledge and belief, and having carried out appropriate investigations 
and checks, in our opinion, in all significant respects, the conditions attached to Highways 
Maintenance Challenge Fund Specific Grant Determination 2017/18 Number 31/2952 have 
been complied with”.

Key Findings
 This declaration is made in respect of the £1,857,130 grant allocated to the authority 

under the grant determinations detailed above.

 The records supplied by the Strategic Finance Accountant confirm that at the year-
end the Highways Maintenance Challenge Fund grant for 2017/18 was fully 
expended. Internal Audit has reviewed a sample of 2017/18 transactions and 
confirmed that expenditure is in accordance with the relevant DfT grant conditions.

 The capital expenditure for the Highways Maintenance Challenge Fund grant is 
monitored by the Capital Accountant who has confirmed that this relates fully to the 
purchase of capital items, and was accounted for as such in the Council’s financial 
system.

Conclusion
Internal Audit has concluded that the conditions of the Grant Determination for 2017/18 have 
been fulfilled and as such the declaration has been signed and submitted to DfT.

Management Actions
No management actions required.

Page 87



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

23

Service Area: Grant Certification (Strategic Finance)

Audit Activity: Safer Roads Fund

Background
On 1st August 2017 a letter was issued by the Department for Transport (DfT) stating the 
allocation of the Safer Roads Fund for 2017/18: No 31/3103. The Gloucestershire County 
Council grant allocation for the year was £1,800,000.

Scope
The Safer Roads Fund may only be used for the purposes that a capital receipt may be used 
for in accordance with regulations made under section 11 of the Local Government Act 
2003. 

The Chief Executive and the Chief Internal Auditor are required to sign and return to DfT a 
declaration by 30th September 2018 in the following terms: 

“To the best of our knowledge and belief, and having carried out appropriate investigations 
and checks, in our opinion, in all significant respects, the conditions attached to the Safer 
Roads Fund (2017/18) No. 31/3103 have been complied with”.

Key Findings
 The records supplied by the Strategic Finance Accountant confirm that at the year-

end £218,928 of the Safer Roads Fund Grant for 2017/18 was expended. Internal 
Audit reviewed a sample of transactions and confirmed that expenditure is in 
accordance with the relevant grant conditions.

 £1,581,072 has been carried forward into 2018/19.

 The capital expenditure for the Safer Roads Fund Grant is monitored by the Capital 
Accountant who has confirmed that this relates fully to the purchase of capital items, 
and was accounted for as such in the Council’s financial system.

Conclusion
The records supplied by the Strategic Finance Accountant confirm that expenditure against 
the Safer Roads Fund in 2017/18 totalled £218,928. Therefore the remaining £1,581,072 
has been carried forward into 2018/19. Internal Audit concludes that the conditions of the 
Grant Determination for 2017/18 have been fulfilled. 

Management Actions
No management actions are required.

Page 88



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

24

Service Area: Grant Certification (Strategic Finance)

Audit Activity: Growth Hub Funding 2017/18

Background
The Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS) letter dated 8th March 
2017 confirmed ‘Growth Hub Funding to Local Enterprise Partnerships in 2017/18’. The 
grant offer letter offered £205,000 to Gloucestershire County Council (the Accountable Body) 
for the period 1st April 2017 to 31st March 2018. Grant offer acceptance was completed by 
the Council. 

The grant is specifically for the giving of advice to business by GFirst Local Enterprise 
Partnership (LEP) by supporting the further development of growth hubs, aligned to 
Government’s objective to simplify access to support for businesses (the Project).  

Scope
The 8th March 2017 BEIS grant offer letter states that:

‘Confirmation is required that in the course of the Project, the Accountable Body has 
expended the sums in respect of which claims are made and that all goods and services 
were received by the Accountable Body by 31st March 2018 and paid for by 25th May 2018. 
For this purpose a report from an accountant must follow the final claim for the Grant and be 
submitted to BEIS by no later than the 25th May 2018. The accountant’s report must be 
submitted in Annex B format and prepared by a professionally qualified member of the 
Accountable Body’s own audit team’.

The Growth Hub Funding 2017/18 internal audit review was designed to meet the above 
BEIS requirements. 

Key Findings
 The internal audit was delivered and reviewed by CCAB professionally qualified 

members of the ARA Shared Service team.  

 The review confirmed that the 2017/18 year end return and previously submitted 
claims for payment (totalling £205,000) were in accordance with the BEIS offer letter 
and annex B criteria. Audit trail review also confirmed that none of the costs were 
incurred before 1 April 2017.

 It was noted that the evidenced GFirstLEP project expenditure for 2017/18 totalled 
£206,066.17 (excluding VAT). The expenditure in excess of £205,000 was incurred 
within the labour expenditure category and was funded directly by GFirstLEP.   

Page 89



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

25

Conclusion
The Growth Hub Funding to LEP in 2017/18 – Accountant’s Report was submitted to the 
BEIS as at 18th May 2018 in line with the grant offer letter requirements. No issues were 
raised within the Accountant’s Report.  

Management Actions
No management actions are required.

Service Area: Grant Certification (Adults)

Audit Activity: Social Care (Capital) Grant

Background
Department of Health (DoH) in 2015/16 made circa £134 million available across all Local 
Authorities through the Social Care (Capital) grant. This funding is part of the Better Care 
Fund, but is allocated directly to councils by the DoH.

Gloucestershire County Council received an allocation of £1,409,000 in 2015/16 from the 
Social Care (Capital) grant. Under the grant determination 2015/16: No 31/2534, the grant: 

 May be used only for the purposes that a capital receipt may be used for in 
accordance with regulations made under section 11 of the Local Government Act 
2003; and

 Is required to be transferred into the local BCF pooled budget, under section 75 of 
the NHS Act 2006, and spent in accordance with a NHS England approved BCF 
spending plan jointly agreed between the local authority and the relevant Clinical 
Commissioning Group(s). 

Scope
The Chief Executive and Chief Internal Auditor are required to return to the DoH a 
declaration by 30th June 2018 in the following terms:

“To the best of our knowledge and belief, and having carried out appropriate investigations 
and checks, in our opinion, in all significant respects, the conditions attached to the Social 
Care Capital Grant No 31/2534 have been and will be complied with”.

The audit scope was to provide assurance that, in all significant respects, the conditions of 
the relevant Grant Determination have been complied with. The period under audit review 
was 2017/18, with consideration of relevant internal audit findings from prior year.

Page 90



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

26

Key Findings
 The Council received funding of £1,409,000 in 2015/16 under the Social Care 

(Capital) grant scheme.

 A total of £849,651.27 was brought forward into 2017/18.

 In 2017/18 a total of £281,548.76 was spent against the Social Care (Capital) grant 
scheme in line with the agreement between Gloucestershire County Council and the 
Clinical Commissioning Group and the joint spending plan for 2017/18. 

 Internal Audit has reviewed a sample of transactions covering 100% of the 2017/18 
expenditure population and confirmed that the sampled expenditure was in 
accordance with the relevant DoH grant conditions.

 The remainder of the Social Care (Capital) grant, £568,102.51 has been carried 
forward into 2018/19.

Conclusion
Based on discussions with officers and a review of records maintained by the Council, 
Internal Audit has gained appropriate assurance that the conditions of the grant 
determination have been met and as such the 2017/18 declaration has been signed and 
submitted to the DoH.  

The remainder of the Social Care (Capital) grant, £568,102.51, has been carried forward into 
2018/19. Capital expenditure in future years is planned to support replacement of IT and 
systems enhancements and replacements along with the project management and 
implementation costs.

Management Actions
No management actions are required.

Service Area: Grant Certification (Community Safety)

Audit Activity: Fire and Rescue Authorities Grant

Background
The Department of Communities and Local Government (DCLG) has historically provided 
funding to local fire authorities to assist in the acquisition of replacement appliances and 
other capital related projects. In this respect, the Council has received the following grants:

 Grant Determination: 2011/12 (No. 31/1992)  £1,700,000; and
 Grant Determination: 2014/15 (No. 31/2322) £822,361.

Page 91



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

27

Scope
This audit reviewed relevant grant expenditure incurred in 2017/18. The aim was to provide 
reasonable assurance to the Chief Finance Officer that the conditions attached to the grant 
determinations have been complied with to enable the 2017/18 annual declaration to be 
signed and submitted to the DCLG.

Key Findings
 Grant carry forward into 2017/18 was £505,546.71.

 £261,507.61 has been expended against both Grant Determinations for the Fire and 
Rescue Authorities Grant in 2017/18 for relevant capital expenditure.

 Audit review confirmed that expenditure from these grants during 2017/18 has been 
monitored by Strategic Finance and appropriate records maintained.

 Audit sample testing reviewed 94% (£246,345.77) of grant expenditure from 2017/18. 
Testing results confirmed sampled expenditure agreement to supporting audit trail 
and grant determination capital expenditure requirements.

 £244,039.10 has been carried forward into 2018/19.

Conclusion
From sample review of the 2017/18 grant expenditure, Internal Audit was able to gain 
assurance that the expenditure has been appropriately classified as a capital related item.  
Consequently, Internal Audit is able to conclude that the conditions attached to the 
respective grant determinations have been complied with within 2017/18. 

Management Actions
No management actions are required.

Summary of Special Investigations/Counter Fraud Activities

Special Investigations/Counter Fraud Activities

The Counter Fraud Team within Internal Audit has received 8 new referrals in 2018/19, and 
also continued to work on 14 cases from previous years. Eight of the brought forward cases 
plus four of the new cases referred in 2018/19 have now been completed, none of which 
have previously been reported to Audit and Governance Committee. 

The service areas of the cases referred to Internal Audit within 2018/19 to date are 
categorised as follows: Adults (3); Children and Families (1); Council Wide (1); Communities 
and Infrastructure (2); and Core (1). 

Page 92



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

28

In respect of the four 2018/19 cases closed to date, one involved the services provided by a 
contractor, where no issue was found. Another involved a care provider which resulted in a 
refund of £3,386 being received and the service area concerned has reviewed contract 
monitoring procedures to reduce future risks. An allegation was received regarding the 
employment of an individual without a disclosure and barring service (DBS) clearance, 
however, it was found that there was no issue, as a higher level clearance had been 
undertaken. The fourth case involving a potential abuse of position found that there was no 
issue with the individual, although a number of learning points were identified within the 
service area and council wide in respect of declaration of interests. 

In respect of the investigation / internal audit reviews into GFRS governance, practices and 
processes please refer to the separate internal audit report presented to the Audit and 
Governance Committee on 12th October 2018.

Previous years’ referrals

Of the 14 cases brought forward eight have been closed. Two cases involved poor cash 
controls concerning petty cash accounts which resulted in monies unaccounted for. Internal 
Audit made recommendations to strengthen the control environment, which were accepted 
by management. Another three cases involved direct payments where monies were 
recovered in varying amounts. One of these direct payment cases, involving joint funding by 
the Council and the NHS, resulted in a conviction for false accounting at Gloucester Crown 
court and the repayment of £17,000.

Of the other three cases one relating to potential theft of iPads and stationery at a school 
has been referred to Action Fraud/Police. However, the Police have decided that there is 
insufficient evidence to take the matter further. The individual concerned has however left 
the employment of the school. Another case involving the theft of a generator from a GCC 
site, whilst under the control of the contractor, has been replaced by the contractor. The final 
case involved a person employed as a contractor whose contract has now been terminated 
plus over £9,000 has been repaid by the individual. 

Many of the cases referred to Internal Audit involve intricate detail and Police referral. This 
invariably results in a delay before the investigation can be classed as closed and reported 
to the Audit and Governance Committee.

National Fraud Initiative (NFI)

Internal Audit continues to support the NFI which is a biennial data matching exercise 
administered by the Cabinet Office. The next data collections are due to be uploaded to the 
Cabinet Office throughout October 2018 and data matching reports will be provided for 
investigation from January 2019 onwards. Examples of data sets include insurance, payroll, 
creditors, pensions, care provision, blue badges and concessionary bus passes. Not all 
matches are investigated but where possible all recommended matches are reviewed by 
either Internal Audit or the appropriate service area.

Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank



Progress Report including Assurance Opinions

Department Activity Name Priority Activity Status Risk Opinion Control Opinion
Reported to Audit 
and Governance 

Committee
Comments

Strategic Finance Retrospective Orders Limited Assurance Follow Up High Planned
Strategic Finance PO Box Addresses High Consultancy
Strategic Finance Payroll - Accuracy of Payments High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 12/10/2018 Brought Forward from 17/18 plan
Strategic Finance Journals and Virements High Planned
Strategic Finance Bank Reconciliations High Planned
Strategic Finance Troubled Families Grant High Planned
Strategic Finance Bus Subsidy Ring-Fenced (Revenue) Grant High Audit in Progress
Strategic Finance Community Capacity Grant High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 12/10/2018
Strategic Finance Local Growth Fund High Cancelled Grant no longer requires internal audit sign off
Strategic Finance Integrated Transport High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 12/10/2018 Included within Local Transport Capital Funding 

Grants summary paragraph
Strategic Finance Highways Block Maintenance High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 12/10/2018 Included within Local Transport Capital Funding 

Grants summary paragraph
Strategic Finance Highways Maintenance Incentive Element High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 12/10/2018 Included within Local Transport Capital Funding 

Grants summary paragraph
Strategic Finance Pothole Action Fund High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 12/10/2018 Included within Local Transport Capital Funding 

Grants summary paragraph
Strategic Finance National Productivity Investment Fund High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 12/10/2018 Included within Local Transport Capital Funding 

Grants summary paragraph
Strategic Finance Flood Resilience Grant High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 12/10/2018 Included within Local Transport Capital Funding 

Grants summary paragraph
Strategic Finance Highways Maintenance Challenge Fund (Street Lighting) High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 12/10/2018
Strategic Finance Local Authority Major Project Grant (Elmbridge) High Cancelled Grant no longer requires internal audit sign off
Strategic Finance Safer Roads Fund High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 12/10/2018
Strategic Finance Growth Hub High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 12/10/2018
Strategic Finance Equal Pay High Consultancy Reported in 18/19 annual report
Strategic Finance IR35 Off-payroll working through an intermediary High Planned Terms of Reference issued
Strategic Finance Safer Recruitment High Planned
Strategic Finance Approval of Payments for Agency Staff High Planned
Strategic Finance Property Service Contracts - Corporate Cleaning Contract High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 12/10/2018
Strategic Finance Capital Programme High Audit in Progress
Strategic Finance Non approved ICT provision High Planned Brought Forward from 17/18 plan
Strategic Finance Additional ICT internal audits 2018/19 High Planned To be agreed by senior management Oct 18
Adults Brokerage High Planned
Adults Direct Payments - Payment Cards High Planned
Adults Gloucestershire Care Partnership High Consultancy Reported in 18/19 annual report
Adults Market Management High Planned
Adults Mental Capacity Assessments High Consultancy Reported in 18/19 annual report
Adults NHS Accessible Information Standards High Planned
Adults Winter Planning-Discharge Beds High Planned
Adults Electronic Call Monitoring (ECM) High Planned Brought Forward from 17/18 plan
Adults Mental Health Services High Audit in Progress Brought Forward from 17/18 plan
Adults Adults Single Programme High Planned
Adults Disabled Facilities Grant High Audit in Progress
Adults Social Care (Capital) Grant High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 12/10/2018
Adults Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) High Audit in Progress
Adults Gloucestershire Adult Safeguarding Board-Audit Sub Group High Consultancy Reported in 18/19 annual report
Children & Families Section 20 - Children's Act High Planned
Children & Families ContrOCC (Childrens) High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Substantial 12/10/2018
Children & Families Unregulated Placements and Packages of Support High Planned
Children & Families Youth Service - Care Leaving Service High Audit in Progress
Children & Families Missing Children High Planned
Children & Families Caseload Management High Planned
Children & Families Quality Assurance and Performance Framework High Planned
Children & Families Section 17 spend including No Recourse to Public Funds (NRPF) Medium Planned
Children & Families Youth Justice Board - Use of Grant Medium Planned
Children & Families Personal Travel Allowances Medium Planned
Children & Families PACE Protocols High Consultancy Reported in 18/19 annual report
Communities and Infrastructure Libraries - Self Service Radio Frequency Identification Medium Planned
Communities and Infrastructure Procurement of Short Term Transport Arrangements for Social Care Users High Planned
Communities and Infrastructure Growth Deal - Project Delivery Medium Planned

Page 1 of 2

P
age 95



Progress Report including Assurance Opinions

Department Activity Name Priority Activity Status Risk Opinion Control Opinion
Reported to Audit 
and Governance 

Committee
Comments

Communities and Infrastructure Growth Deal - Risk Management and Escalation Process by the LEP Board High Planned
Communities and Infrastructure Section 106 Agreements - Bond Policy High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 12/10/2018 Brought Forward from 17/18 plan
Communities and Infrastructure Highways Structural Maintenance - Contract Management High Planned
Communities and Infrastructure Highways Term Maintenance Contract - Review of Procurement High Audit in Progress
Communities and Infrastructure Household Recycling Centres High Planned
Communities and Infrastructure Joint Waste Partnership - Funding Arrangements High Planned
Communities and Infrastructure Fleet Management High Deferred Deferred to 2019/20 due to current governance 

arrangements being reviewed
Strategy & Challenge Data analytics - specific targetted areas (fraud & audit) High Planned Reported in 18/19 annual report
Strategy & Challenge General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) Compliance High Planned
Community Safety Fire and Rescue Authorities Grant High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 12/10/2018
Community Safety Risk Management Framework Medium Planned
Community Safety GFRS Governance High Audit in Progress New Activity
Community Safety GFRS Procurement High Planned New Activity
Adult Services & Business Best Value Policy High Planned
Adult Services & Business Standards of Proficiency for Social Workers High Planned
Education Nursery Education Funding - Hourly Rate High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 12/10/2018
Education Education Outcomes & Intervention High Planned
Education Alternative Provision Schools -  Stroud and Cotswolds High Planned
Education Schools Whistleblowing High Planned
Education Schools Contingency High Planned
Education Nursery Education Funding - Audit Process High Planned
Education SEN procurement of transport - non Direct Purchasing System High Planned
Education Education Contingency High Planned
Education Education Commissioning - Specialist High Consultancy Reported in 18/19 annual report
Education Direct Payments (Childrens) Limited Assurance Follow Up High Final Report Issued Substantial Satisfactory 12/10/2018 Brought Forward from 17/18 plan
Pensions Management of LGPS High Planned
Pensions Receipt and Accounting for Contributions High Audit in Progress
Pensions General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) High Planned
Pensions Admitted Bodies High Final Report Issued Substantial Satisfactory 12/10/2018 Brought Forward from 17/18 plan

Exempt Report High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 12/10/2018 Consultancy
Exempt Report High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 12/10/2018 Brought Forward from 17/18 plan

Page 2 of 2

P
age 96



AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

12th October 2018

TREASURY MANAGEMENT UPDATE REPORT

Title of Report   Treasury Management Update Report 2018/19

Purpose of Report 
In accordance with CIPFA’s Treasury Management in the Public Services: 
Code of Practice and Cross-Sectoral Guidance Notes, to inform Members 
about Treasury Management activities for the 2018/19 Financial Year to 
date.

Recommendations To note the Treasury Management Update Report.

Officers
Jo Walker: Strategic Finance Director (01452) 328469
Joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Paul Blacker: Head of Finance  (01452) 328999
paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Kathryn Oakey: Finance Manager (Planning and Treasury)
kathryn.oakey@gloucestershire.gov.uk

MAIN REPORT CONTENTS

1. Background

The Council’s treasury management strategy for 2018/19 was approved at a meeting of 
the Council in February 2018.  The Council borrows and invests substantial sums of 
money and is therefore exposed to financial risks including the loss of invested funds 
and the revenue effect of changing interest rates.  The successful identification, 
monitoring and control of risk is therefore central to the Council’s treasury management 
strategy.

The Council’s treasury management activity is underpinned by the Chartered Institute of 
Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Code of Practice on Treasury Management, 
the Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (Prudential Code) and the 
Ministry for Housing Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) revised Investment 
Guidance which came into effect from April 2018.  The CIPFA Code requires that 
members be informed of treasury management activities at least twice a year. This mid 
year report ensures the Council is embracing best practice in accordance with CIPFA’s 
recommendations.

The updated Prudential Code includes a new requirement for local authorities to provide 
a Capital Strategy, which is a summary document covering capital expenditure and 

Page 97

Agenda Item 8

mailto:Joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:John.kear@gloucestershire.gov.uk


financing, treasury management and non-treasury investments and should be approved 
by full council.  The Council’s Capital Strategy, in accordance with CIPFA’s requirement, 
was approved by full Council in February 2018.

This report considers the treasury management activities in relation to the Treasury 
Management Strategy for 2018/19.  It includes a summary of the current economic 
climate, a review of current investments, an update on the borrowing strategy, and 
compliance with prudential indicators.  

2. The Economy to August 2018

Treasury Management is operating in a period of unprecedented uncertainty.  The UK 
economy still faces a challenging outlook as the minority government continues to 
negotiate the country's exit from the European Union.  This continued uncertainty will 
continue to produce significant volatility in financial markets, including bond markets.

The Bank of England’s Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) sets monetary policy to meet 
the 2% inflation target in a way that also helps to sustain growth and employment.  In 
early August 2018 the MPC voted to raise the official Bank Rate by 0.25% to 0.75% 
and maintain the asset purchase programme at £435 billon and the corporate bond 
purchase programme at £10 billion.

There were a few credit rating changes during the period.  Moody’s downgraded 
Barclays Bank Plc’s long-term rating to A2 from A1 after the banking group completed 
its restructure to be compliant with UK bank ring-fencing requirements, which come into 
effect in 2019.  The agency also downgraded Royal Bank of Scotland plc’s (RBS plc) 
long-term ratings to Baa2 from A3 on its view that the credit metrics of RBS plc will 
become weaker and less diversified and the main functions of the bank would be in 
higher risk activities.  Moody’s and Fitch upgraded the long-term ratings of NatWest 
Bank and Ulster Bank on the view that their credit profiles are expected to improve 
following ring-fencing.  

The Council has no exposure to either RBS or Natwest as an investment counterparty 
ahead of the downgrade as it no longer met the Council’s higher credit rating threshold 
of A- in its 2018/19 strategy.

3. Borrowing Strategy 2018/19

At 31st March 2018, the Council’s underlying need to borrow for capital purposes as 
measured by the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) was £302.1 million.  Actual 
external borrowing was £285.5m at this date and £19.8m of other long term liabilities 
associated with the Council’s PFI schemes – a total of £305.3 million, giving a slightly 
over borrowed position.

The Council has an approved capital programme in 2018/19 funded from grants, 
revenue contributions, internal borrowing, capital receipts and reserves.

The borrowing strategy for 2018/19 is to hold any borrowing requirement internally, and 
ensure all long term debt due to mature in the financial year is repaid.  Two loans will 
mature before the end of the financial year totalling £7.9m, both will be repaid in full.  

Any shortfall between the underlying need to borrow for capital purposes and total 
external debt will be funded from internal borrowing because it continues to provide the 
best value for funding new capital expenditure, as well as being a low risk option. 

Page 98



The average loan cost for the Council is 4.98%, (5.08% on the PWLB portfolio, 5% on 
other fixed loans and 4.23% on the LOBO loans) – this compares to an average of 
5.05% in 2017/18.  The premium charge for early repayment of PWLB debt has 
remained expensive for the loans in the Council’s portfolio and therefore unattractive for 
debt rescheduling or early redemption activity. No rescheduling activity has yet been 
undertaken as a consequence.

In the period 1st April 2018 to 31st August 2018, no new long term external debt was 
incurred and no long term external debt was repaid early.  The borrowing strategy will 
be kept under review to ensure the funding methods remain appropriate.  The current 
maturity profile for the Council is shown in Appendix B.  

4. Investment Strategy 2018/19

The Council holds significant invested funds, representing income received in advance 
of expenditure plus balances and reserves held.  Cashflow forecasts indicated that 
during the period April 2018 to August 2018 the Councils investment balances ranged 
between £278 million and £332 million as shown below, giving a core cash position of 
up to £278 million (ie balances that could theoretically be invested for longer periods):

 

250

260

270

280

290

300

310

320

330

340

£m
 In

ve
st

ed

Period from April 2018 to August 2018

Investment Balances

CORE CASH

The Guidance on Local Government Investments in England gives priority to security 
and liquidity and the Council’s aim is to achieve a yield commensurate with these 
principles. 

The UK Bank Rate has been increased to 0.75% in August 2018.  Short-term money 
market rates have been increasing, as have short fixed deposits rates.  Our longer 
duration strategy has helped to protect interest income over the medium term and the 
Council is continuing to explore ways of increasing yield whilst ensuring security and 
liquidity principles.  

The current year budget for interest earned is £2.6 million and the current forecast is 
that this will be exceeded by £2.5 million in 2018/19 – as reflected in the latest Financial 

Page 99



Monitoring Report to Cabinet. This improved year end forecast reflects better 
diversification of investments, longer term deposits and the additional income as a result 
of the 0.5% increase in the Bank of England base rate.  

The average total return on investments as at the end of June 2018 is currently 1.80% 
(income only return is 1.69%) – this compares to 1.18% income only return in 2017/18.  
The graph at Appendix C shows the performance of the Council from the income only 
return (ie excluding capital appreciation of investments) compared to other local 
authorities.  The graph at Appendix D shows the rate of return against the Council’s risk 
appetite in comparison to other councils – which shows a top quartile return with a lower 
than average credit risk exposure.

Internally Managed Funds

The Council has a number of longer term deposits outstanding totalling £108.9 million.  
This includes £55 million longer term investments with other local authorities, a Property 
Fund (£30m) and a number of secured deposits with financial institutions.  

On a shorter term the Council makes regular fixed term deposits for up to one year with 
both UK (current limit 6 months) and foreign banks, subject to duration limits advised by 
Arlingclose.  Liquidity is maintained through the use of call facilities and money market 
funds (MMF’s).  

The following details the maturity profile of internal balances as at 31st August 2018:

Fund Type / Duration % £m
Callable and cnav MMF 8.51% 26.161
Vnav MMF (1-3 days notice) 13.01% 40.000
Under 3 months 11.38% 35.000
95 day notice A/C 9.76% 30.000
3-6 months 8.13% 25.000
6-12 months 13.79% 42.400
Over 12 months (incl Longer Dated Funds) 35.43% 108.930

100.00% 307.491

A list of current investments as at 31st August 2018 is provided at Appendix A.  

Investment Activity to Date 

Investment activity to date is shown in the table below, note that this table includes 
£0.1m above the total of £307.491m above relating to economic development schemes 
(Funding Circle £0.1m):

Page 100



Short term Investments (call 
accounts, deposits)
- Banks and Building Societies 
with ratings of A- or higher 41.0 38.8 -15.6 64.2

- UK Government 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

- Local Authorities 40.1 30.0 -5.1 65.0

 - Housing Association 5.0 0.0 0.0 5.0

-  Covered Bonds/ FRN (secured) 31.2 0.0 -28.8 2.4

Long term Investments
- Banks and Building Societies 
with ratings of A- or higher 1.0 0.0 -1.0 0.0

- CCLA Property Fund 25.0 5.0 0.0 30.0

 - Housing Association 5.0 0.0 0.0 5.0

-  Covered Bonds/ FRN (secured) 6.4 0.0 -2.5 3.9
- Local Authorities 59.0 11.0 -15.0 55.0

Money Market Funds 16.9 243.2 -243.1 17.0

Other Pooled Funds 55.0 10.0 -5.0 60.0
Other organisations (e.g. loans 
to small businesses) 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1

TOTAL INVESTMENTS 285.7 307.6
Increase/ (Decrease) in 
Investments £m 21.9

Avg Rate 
(%) Investments

Balance on 
31/03/2018  

Investments 
Made        

Maturities/ 
Investments 

Balance on 
17/08/2018  

Security of capital remained the Council’s main investment objective.  This was 
maintained during the first part of the financial year by following the Council’s 
counterparty policy as set out in its Treasury Management Strategy Statement for 
2018/19.  This restricts new investments to the following: 

 interest-bearing bank accounts,
 fixed term deposits and loans,
 callable deposits and loans where the Council may demand repayment 

at any time (with or without notice),
 callable deposits and loans where the borrower may repay before 

maturity, but subject to a maximum of £30 million in total,
 certificates of deposit,
 bonds, notes, bills, commercial paper and other marketable 

instruments, 
 shares in money market funds and other pooled funds, and
 reverse repurchase (repo) agreements.

Credit Risk:  Counterparty credit quality was assessed and monitored in line with the 
approved Treasury Management Strategy.

Page 101



5. Compliance with Prudential Indicators

The Council can confirm that it has complied with its Prudential Indicators for 2018/19, 
which were set in February 2018 as part of the Council’s Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement.  

Details can be found in Appendix E.

6. Outlook for the rest of the year

The MPC increased interest rates to 0.75% in August 2018, and Arlingclose’s central 
case is for Bank Rate is to rise twice more in 2019.  The MPC has a definite bias 
towards tighter monetary policy.  While policymakers are wary of domestic inflationary 
pressures over the next two years, it is believed that the MPC members consider both 
that: 1) ultra-low interest rates result in other economic problems, and that 2) higher 
Bank Rate will be a more effective weapon should downside Brexit risks crystallise. 

Arlingclose’s view is that the UK economy still faces a challenging outlook as the
government continues to negotiate the country's exit from the European Union. Central 
bank actions and geopolitical risks, such as prospective trade wars, have and will 
continue to produce significant volatility in financial markets, including bond markets.

7. Summary

In compliance with the requirements of the CIPFA Code of Practice this report provides 
members with a summary report of the treasury management activity during the first 
period of 2018/19 to August 2018.   As indicated in this report none of the Prudential 
Indicators have been breached and a prudent approach has been taken in relation to 
investment activity with priority being given to security and liquidity over yield.  

Page 102



Appendix A
In-House Investments as at 31st August 2018

Type Country/ 
Domicile Counterparty Current £m 

Unsecured
Current £m 

Secured

Maximum 
Duration 

Limit 
(Unsecured)

Santander UK Plc (Banco Santander 
Group) 15.0 1.4 6 months

Bank of Scotland (Lloyds Banking 
Group) - - 6 months

Lloyds (Lloyds Banking Group) - 2.5 6 months
HSBC Bank Plc 9.2 - 6 months
Close Brothers 5.0 - 6 months

Nationwide Building Society - 2.4 6 months

Furness Building Society - - 100 days

National Counties Building Society - - 100 days

Barclays Bank Plc - - 100 days

Goldman Sacs International Bank 15.0 - 100 days

UK

Coventry Building Society - - 6 months
Australia and NZ Banking Group 10.0 - 6 months
Commonwealth Bank of Australia - - 6 months
National Australia Bank - - 6 months

Australia

Westpac Banking Corp - - 6 months
Bank of Montreal - - 6 months
Bank of Nova Scotia - - 6 months
Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce - - 6 months
Royal Bank of Canada - - 6 months

Canada

Toronto-Dominion Bank - - 6 months
Nordea Bank Finland - - 13 monthsFinland
OP Corporate Bank - - 6 months

Germany Helaba - - 6 months
ING Bank NV - - 100 days
Rabobank 5.0 - 13 monthsNetherlands

Danske Bank - - 100 days
Sweden Svenska Handelsbanken - - 13 months

Switzerland Credit Suisse - - 100 days
DBS - - 13 months
OCBC - - 13 months

Te
rm

 D
ep

os
its

 / 
C

al
l A

cc
ou

nt
s 

/ C
D

s 
/ C

ov
er

ed
 In

st
ru

m
en

ts

Singapore
UOB 5.0 - 13 months

LA / Bills UK Other UK Local Authorities 120.0 - 4 years

17.0 -
AAA-
rated 
Money 
Market 
Funds

UK / Ireland /
Luxembourg 

domiciled 

CNAV MMFs

VNAV MMFs (where there is greater 
than 12 month history of a consistent 
£1 Net Asset Value)

50.0 -
-

Other 
MMFs 
and CIS

UK / Ireland /
Luxembourg 

domiciled 

Pooled funds which meet the definition 
of a Collective Investment Scheme per 
SI 2004 No 534 and subsequent 
amendments

40.0 - -

Network Homes 5.0 - 5 yearsHA’s UK
Southern Housing group 5.0 - 5 years

TOTAL 301.2 6.3

Page 103



Appendix B

7.
38

%
8.

31
%

7.
04

%
6.

18
%

5.
75

%
4.

88
%

4.
81

%

5.
00

%

4.
60

%
4.

88
%

4.
80

%

4.
75

%
4.

35
%

4.
86

%
4.

85
%

4.
71

%
4.

79
%

4.
78

%

4.
65

%
4.

75
%

4.
73

%
4.

71
%

4.
80

%
4.

70
%

3.
90

%
4.

10
%

4.
55

%
5.

00
%

4.
75

%

4.
46

%

4.
11

%

 -

 5,000,000

 10,000,000

 15,000,000

 20,000,000

 25,000,000

 30,000,000

 35,000,000

Maturity Profile (including average % loan rate)

PWLB LOBO Fixed

££££

P
age 104



0.0%

0.5%

1.0%

1.5%

2.0%

2.5%

3.0%

3.5%

4.0%

Income Only Return on Total Investments (Internal plus External Funds)

Average income on internal investments Over-performance of external funds Gloucestershire - 30/06/2018

The rate of return has been calculated as:

External pooled funds: income only return for the past year, i.e. excluding 
capital gains and losses.
Other investments: effective interest rate (EIR) of investments held at the 
quarter end date.

Since investment portfolios change over time, this will not equal your actual 
rate of return for the past year, but is a snapshot of current returns.

Appendix C

Source: Arlingclose limited

P
age 105



0.0%

0.2%

0.4%

0.6%

0.8%

1.0%

1.2%

1.4%

1.6%

1.8%

2.0%

2 2.5 3 3.5 4 4.5 5 5.5 6 6.5 7 7.5 8

Av
er

ag
e 

Re
tu

rn
 o

n 
In

te
rn

al
 In

ve
st

m
en

ts

Average Credit Risk Score - Valued Weighted Average

Internal Investments: Average Rate vs Credit Risk (value-weighted)

Benchmarking Gloucestershire - 30/06/2018

LOW RISK
HIGH RETURN

r=-0.05

Source: Arlingclose limited

Appendix D

P
age 106



Appendix E
Prudential Indicators 2018/19

The objectives of the Prudential Code are to ensure, within a clear framework, that 
the capital investment plans of local authorities are affordable, prudent and 
sustainable, and that treasury management decisions are taken in accordance with 
good professional practice. To demonstrate that the Council has fulfilled these 
objectives, the Prudential Code sets out the following indicators that must be set and 
monitored each year.

Capital Financing Requirement
The underlying need to borrow for capital purposes is measured by the Capital 
Financing Requirement (CFR).  Estimates of the Council’s cumulative maximum 
external borrowing requirement for 2018/19 to 2020/21 are shown in the table below:

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m
Closing CFR 302.076 311.188 322.806 324.778
Less:
Existing Profile of  External Borrowing 285.513 277.650 269.786 261.823

Other Long Term Liabilities (PFI) 19.825 19.138 18.465 17.688
Cumulative Maximum External 
Borrowing Requirement

-3.262 14.401 34.555 45.268

The Councils strategy remains to maintain maximum control over its borrowing 
activities as well as flexibility on its loans portfolio.  The capital financing requirement 
is forecast to increase over the next three years as the Council invests in a number 
of approved capital schemes.

Authorised Limit and Operational Boundary for External Debt:

 The Authorised Limit sets the maximum level of external borrowing on a gross 
basis (i.e. not net of investments) and is the statutory limit which should not be 
breached.  The Council’s Affordable Borrowing Limit was set at £380m for 
2018/19. 

 The Operational Boundary links directly to the Council’s estimates of the CFR 
and estimates of other cashflow requirements.  (This indicator is based on the 
same estimates as the Authorised Limit reflecting the most likely, prudent but 
not worst case scenario, without the additional headroom included within the 
Authorised Limit).  The Operational Boundary for 2018/19 was set at £360m.

 There were no breaches to the Authorised Limit and the Operational 
Boundary during the period to 31/08/18; borrowing at its peak to date was 
£305.3m.  

Page 107



Proportion of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream:

 This is an indicator of affordability and highlights the revenue implications of 
existing and proposed capital expenditure by identifying the proportion of the 
revenue budget required to meet financing costs, net of investment income. 
The estimate for interest payments in 2018/19 is £14.2 million and for interest 
receipts is £5.1 million.

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate

Proportion of Financing Costs to 
Net Revenue Stream 4.86% 4.41% 4.58% 4.52%

Maturity Structure of Fixed Rate Borrowing: 

 This indicator is to limit large concentrations of fixed rate debt needing to be 
replaced at times of uncertainty over interest rates. 

Maturity Structure of Fixed Rate 
Borrowing

Upper 
Limit

Lower 
Limit

Actual 
Fixed Rate 

£m 
Borrowing 

as at 
31/03/18

Actual 
Fixed Rate 

£m 
Borrowing 

as at 
31/03/18

Actual 
Fixed Rate 

£m 
Borrowing 

as at 
31/03/18

Fixed 
Rate 

Borrowing 
as at 

31/03/18

% % LOBO* Market PWLB %
under 12 months 25 0 33.050 7.863 14.3 Yes 
12 months and within 24 months 25 0 7.863 2.8 Yes
24 months and within 5 years 50 0 44.509 15.6 Yes
5 years and within 10 years 75 0 15.000 5.3 Yes
10 years and within 20 years 100 0 29.000 10.2 Yes
20 years and within 30 years 100 0 54.171 19.0 Yes
30 years and within 40 years 100 0 8.000 71.057 27.7 Yes
40 years and within 50 years 100 0 15.000 5.3 Yes

* Note that LOBO’s  are included in the table above at earl ies t ca l l  date and not at maturi ty.

Compliance 
with Set 
Limits?

Note: LOBO’s are shown at their earliest maturity (call) date.  In reality these loans tend to be much 
longer term and cannot be redeemed early, unless called, without significant penalty.  Barclays 
LOBO’s are now classified as fixed loans and their maturity date is shown in the 40 years plus 
category

Total principal sums invested for periods longer than 365 days:

 This indicator allows the Council to manage the risk inherent in investments 
longer than 365 days.  The limit for 2018/19 was set at £200m, and in total the 
Council has £108.9 million invested for over 365 days as follows:  

o The Council has £30 million invested in the CCLA Property Fund.  
Although funds can be received within 6 months this investment is 
treated as a longer term investment by the Council as there are no 
plans to mature the funds.

o The Council has one Floating Rate Note with Lloyds Bank, totalling 
£2.5 million, maturing in 2020.

Page 108



o The Council has one longer dated covered bond with Santander for 
£1.4 million maturing in 2021.

o The Council has £55 million invested longer term with various local 
authorities, periods ranging from 2 years to 4 years.

o The Council has £10 million invested in a multi asset fund.  Although 
funds could be matured earlier this fund is treated as a long term 
investment.

o The Council has £10 million invested in an equity fund.  Although funds 
could be matured earlier this fund is treated as a long term investment.

Page 109



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to the Audit and Governance Committee in October 2018 on the 
actions taken in relation to key recommendations made in the IT 
Disaster Recovery internal audit report 

Lead Officers: Andy Gilbert (Head of ICT) and John Deane (Deputy Head 
of ICT) 
Presenting Officer: Andy Gilbert

Summary of Audit Area 

Disaster Recovery involves planning to protect an organisation from the 
effects of significant negative events.  A disaster can be anything that puts 
normal IT operations at risk, from a cyberattack, hardware failures to natural 
disasters.  Disaster Recovery plans and procedures should enable IT 
services to continue operating as close to normal as possible or recover to 
normal operations in a timely manner.  The Disaster Recovery process 
includes planning and testing, and may involve a separate physical site for 
restoring operations.

Risks

 Unnecessary system downtime or inability to adequately recover 
business systems and applications through the absence of adequate 
and tested Disaster Recovery arrangements;

 Failure to document and test Disaster Recovery plans;
 Legislative action through the loss of commercially sensitive data;
 Lack of environmental protection for live server hardware; and
 Unauthorised access to GCC server hardware and backup media.

Summary Terms of Reference of the Audit

The scope of the audit review was based on known good practice and 
encompassed:

 GCC information security policy guidelines on IT Disaster Recovery;
 Documented Disaster Recovery plans;
 Regular rehearsal and testing of Disaster Recovery arrangements;
 Technical recovery procedures for all key GCC systems;
 Physical security and environmental protection for all GCC server 

hardware;
 Data backup arrangements including off site data storage; and
 Commercial contracts including confidentiality agreements for key IT 

Disaster Recovery suppliers.

Page 111

Agenda Item 9



Key Findings Current Status

The audit review identified a number of areas of good practice. Production 
servers are hosted at Corsham in a purpose built data centre. The Corsham 
site offers a high level of physical security including onsite security guards, 
CCTV and biometric access controls.  Physical access controls are 
supplemented by environmental protection including Uninterruptible Power 
Supply, a bank of diesel generators and two power feeds to the National 
Grid.

The NetBackup utility has been deployed to manage daily (incremental) and 
weekly (full) data backup routines.  Backup data is replicated across two file 
servers in Corsham and Gloucester.  Authentication to NetBackup is 
managed by Active Directory and access restricted to valid and authorised 
members of the ICT team. Sopra Steria are contracted to provide technical 
support for the majority of Council business applications.  As part of their 
technical support role, Sopra Steria negotiated a sub-contract for the hosting 
of all Council servers at the Corsham data centre.

The findings from the audit also identified improvement actions to ensure 
that there is a reasonable chance of a timely recovery from an incident.  The 
main areas that required attention were:

 The lack of an up-to-date IT Disaster Recovery plan;
 No recent testing of ability to recover critical systems in the event of a 

disaster; and
 Absence of documented technical recovery procedures for many 

critical GCC systems.

The above findings resulted in three audit recommendations being raised.

The lack of an up-to-date IT Disaster Recovery plan, supported by prioritised 
critical system recovery procedures exposes the Council to the risk of 
inability to properly recover in a timely manner if a serious incident /disaster 
should befall the Council. 

At the point of audit report, ICT were proactively reviewing newly-developing 
Disaster Recovery options to enable them to move towards an up-to-date 
documented IT Disaster Recovery plan. Based on this documented positive 
direction of travel alongside the areas of good practice in place, a 
satisfactory assurance opinion was applied to the IT Disaster Recovery risk 
identification maturity and control environment.

Following review and consideration of the IT Disaster Recovery audit 
outcomes, Audit and Governance Committee requested that management 
attend the October 2018 Committee meeting to provide an update against 
the audit recommendations. 

Page 112



Action taken as at October 2018 and/or proposed

Recommendation 1

Audit recommendation:

Management should ensure that a documented and approved IT Disaster 
Recovery plan is produced outlining all recovery arrangements in the event 
of a disaster befalling the Corsham data centre.

Original management response: 

This document is currently being updated by a dedicated resource in ICT. 
The final draft version is expected to be produced by September 2018, for 
final review and agreement by ICT Governance Board in October 2018.

Management update as at October 2018:

The ICT Service has commissioned the councils’ outsourced ICT managed 
service provider (Sopra Steria Ltd.) to update the corporate IT Disaster 
Recovery Plan (entitled ICT Service Continuity & Recovery Plan) to reflect 
the ever-evolving GCC data centre and storage requirements solutions.  

Recommendation 2

Audit recommendation:

Management should ensure that IT Disaster Recovery arrangements are 
subject to annual testing.

Original management response:

ICT are planning a test in October 2018. The intervening months are being 
efficiently utilised to plan for this activity.

Management update as at October 2018:

The ICT Service had already commissioned the councils’ outsourced ICT 
managed service provider (Sopra Steria Ltd.) to schedule an annual test 
restore of the new IT disaster recovery solution.  This was due to take place 
w/c 29th July but was unfortunately impacted by a real test of the service 
when a failure of the council’s Oracle database environment took place.  
This outage impacted upon the ERIC adult social care system and the 
Capita ONE children’s database – access to both solutions was restored 
within 24 hours.  The cancelled annual test restore is currently being 
currently re-scheduled. 

Recommendation 3

Audit recommendation:

Page 113



Management should ensure that documented technical recovery procedures 
are produced for all critical GCC applications.

Original management response:

ICT will work with each individual asset owner per system to agree 
processes required to recover the core application. This will be factored into 
the ICT work programme.

Management update as at October 2018:

This activity is under constant review as the five defined council critical 
business systems have evolved and developed.  As with the Oracle 
database outage w/c 29th July, this technical recovery procedure was utilised 
and will be reviewed and updated where necessary. 
 

Page 114



1

S:/CommissioningExecutive/Jane Burns/Reports/Audit and Governance Committee 6 October 2017 

Audit and Governance Committee

Local Government Ombudsman’s Annual Review Letter 2017/18

Date: 12 October 2017 Agenda No:

Title of Report Local Government Ombudsman’s Annual Review Letter 
2017/18

Purpose of Report To review the Council’s arrangements for handling 
complaints and investigations by the Local Government 
Ombudsman.

Recommendations: To note the Local Government Ombudsman’s Annual 
Review Letter 2017/18

Officer(s) Contact: Jane Burns, Director Strategy and Challenge and 
Monitoring Officer, jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
01452 328472

Key Risks: Strategic Risks SR 1.1 and SR 1.2

Failure in corporate governance, which leads to service, 
financial or reputational damage or failure.

Failure to effectively understand, inform, consult or 
engage customers, resulting in dissatisfaction, criticism 
or challenge.

Page 115

Agenda Item 10

mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk


2

S:/CommissioningExecutive/Jane Burns/Reports/Audit and Governance Committee 6 October 2017 

Local Government Ombudsman’s Review of Local Government Complaints 
2017/18

1. Responding to and learning from complaints is an important element of the 
corporate governance of an organisation and the Local Government 
Ombudsman’s (LGO) annual review letter is an important indicator of the 
quality of the Council’s governance arrangements.  The Audit and 
Governance Committee is responsible for formulating and keeping under 
review the Council’s arrangements for handling complaints and investigations 
by the LGO.

2. The Local Government Ombudsman produces an annual summary of 
statistics on complaints made to them about all councils.  The report for 
Gloucestershire for the year ended 31 March 2018 is attached at Appendix 1.

3. In 2017/18 the LGO recorded 67 complaints about Gloucestershire County 
Council.  This compares to 70 last year, 62 in 2015/16 and 75 in 2014/15.  Of 
the 16 detailed investigations 8 were not upheld and 8 were upheld.

4. The Council’s own data records complaints referred to the Ombudsman. The 
LGO now only provides the number of complaints received and not the 
detailed data which sits behind it so it is impossible to reconcile the two sets 
of data.  The higher number of LGO complaints and enquiries will include 
some which were not pursued. It is also the case that some complaints are 
concluded in a different financial year to them being received.

Local data on complaints 

5. The majority of complaints were in relation to education and children’s 
services, adult social care and highways and transport.

Figures:
Service area Up-

held
Not up-

held
Closed after 

initial 
enquires

Incomplete/ 
invalid or 

open

Total

Adults 5 7 5 5 22

Corporate and 
other

0 0 0 1 1

Education and 
Children 
Services

2 3 5 3 13

Environmental 0 0 1 0 1

Highways and 
Transport

1 0 10 2 13

Total 8 10 21 11 50
Where complaints have been up-held, there has been a local resolution.

Page 116



3

S:/CommissioningExecutive/Jane Burns/Reports/Audit and Governance Committee 6 October 2017 

Review and follow-up

6. The Head of Legal Services is the principal point of contact with the LGO. She 
oversees the complaints and allocates cases to one of the principal lawyers if 
the LGO decides to carry out an investigation; and liaises with the Monitoring 
Officer.

7. Each report received is carefully considered by the relevant service area.  In 
addition, the cases are reviewed on a regular basis by the Chief Executive, 
the Monitoring Officer and the Strategic Finance Director.  They are 
particularly looking at the broader organisational risks and governance issues.

8. Members receive information on complaints, including Ombudsman findings, 
as part of the quarterly strategic reviews of performance.  This is in addition to 
the formal annual report, here today.

9. Both Adults Social Care and Children’s Social Care have separate statutory 
complaints procedures.  They are both required to produce annual reports.

10. Any comments or suggestions on how reporting could be improved are 
welcome.

Conclusion

11. The LGO’s Annual Review Letter for 2017/18 gives a summary of statistics on 
the complaints made about Gloucestershire County Council.  Of the 16 
complaints which they investigated, 8 were upheld, all of which were resolved 
locally.

Page 117



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

18 July 2018 
 
By email 
 
Peter Bungard 
Chief Executive 
Gloucestershire County Council 
 
 
Dear Peter Bungard, 
 
Annual Review letter 2018 
 
I write to you with our annual summary of statistics on the complaints made to the 
Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) about your authority for the year 
ended 31 March 2018. The enclosed tables present the number of complaints and enquiries 
received about your authority and the decisions we made during the period. I hope this 
information will prove helpful in assessing your authority’s performance in handling 
complaints.  
 
Complaint statistics 
In providing these statistics, I would stress that the volume of complaints does not, in itself, 
indicate the quality of the council’s performance. High volumes of complaints can be a sign 
of an open, learning organisation, as well as sometimes being an early warning of wider 
problems. Low complaint volumes can be a worrying sign that an organisation is not alive to 
user feedback, rather than always being an indicator that all is well. So, I would encourage 
you to use these figures as the start of a conversation, rather than an absolute measure of 
corporate health. One of the most significant statistics attached is the number of upheld 
complaints. This shows how frequently we find fault with the council when we investigate.  
Equally importantly, we also give a figure for the number of cases where we decided your 
authority had offered a satisfactory remedy during the local complaints process. Both figures 
provide important insights. 
 
I want to emphasise the statistics in this letter reflect the data we hold, and may not 
necessarily align with the data your authority holds. For example, our numbers include 
enquiries from people we signpost back to the authority, some of whom may never contact 
you.  
 
In line with usual practice, we are publishing our annual data for all authorities on our 
website, alongside an annual review of local government complaints. The aim of this is to be 
transparent and provide information that aids the scrutiny of local services. 
 
Future development of annual review letters  
Last year, we highlighted our plans to move away from a simplistic focus on complaint 
volumes and instead turn focus onto the lessons that can be learned and the wider 

Page 119



 

 

improvements we can achieve through our recommendations to improve services for the 
many. We have produced a new corporate strategy for 2018-21 which commits us to more 
comprehensibly publish information about the outcomes of our investigations and the 
occasions our recommendations result in improvements to local services. 
 
I would like to take this opportunity to express my thanks for your Council volunteering to be 
involved with this project which seeks to improve the way we record and publish data about 
remedies. This is an important area of our work, which will help highlight the positive impact 
complaints can have on improving the way public services are delivered. We very much 
appreciate the time you have offered to help make this project a success. We will also be 
making changes to the format of our annual letters as a result and will be engaging with 
councils on this early next year.  
 
Supporting local scrutiny 
One of the purposes of our annual letters to councils is to help ensure learning from 
complaints informs scrutiny at the local level. Sharing the learning from our investigations 
and supporting the democratic scrutiny of public services continues to be one of our key 
priorities. We have created a dedicated section of our website which contains a host of 
information to help scrutiny committees and councillors to hold their authority to account – 
complaints data, decision statements, public interest reports, focus reports and scrutiny 
questions. This can be found at www.lgo.org.uk/scrutiny. I would be grateful if you could 
encourage your elected members and scrutiny committees to make use of these resources.  
 
Learning from complaints to improve services  
We share the issues we see in our investigations to help councils learn from the issues 
others have experienced and avoid making the same mistakes. We do this through the 
reports and other resources we publish. Over the last year, we have seen examples of 
councils adopting a positive attitude towards complaints and working constructively with us 
to remedy injustices and take on board the learning from our cases. In one great example, a 
county council has seized the opportunity to entirely redesign how its occupational therapists 
work with all of it districts, to improve partnership working and increase transparency for the 
public. This originated from a single complaint. This is the sort of culture we all benefit from – 
one that takes the learning from complaints and uses it to improve services. 
 
Complaint handling training 
We have a well-established and successful training programme supporting local authorities 
and independent care providers to help improve local complaint handling. In 2017-18 we 
delivered 58 courses, training more than 800 people. We also set up a network of council 
link officers to promote and share best practice in complaint handling, and hosted a series of 

seminars for that group. To find out more visit www.lgo.org.uk/training. 
 

Yours sincerely, 

 

 
 

Michael King 

Local Government and Social CCare Ombudsman 

Chair, Commission for Local Administration in England 

Page 120

https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/news/2018/apr/ombudsman-publishes-latest-corporate-strategy
http://www.lgo.org.uk/scrutiny
https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/reports
http://www.lgo.org.uk/training


Local Authority Report: Gloucestershire County Council
For the Period Ending: 31/03/2018

For further information on how to interpret our statistics, please visit our website:
http://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/reports/annual-review-reports/interpreting-local-authority-statistics

Complaints and enquiries received

Adult Care
Services

Benefits and
Tax

Corporate
and Other
Services

Education
and

Children’s
Services

Environment
Services

Highways
and

Transport
Housing

Planning and
Development

Other Total

26 0 2 19 1 16 0 2 1 67

Decisions made Detailed Investigations

Incomplete or
Invalid

Advice Given

Referred
back for

Local
Resolution

Closed After
Initial

Enquiries
Not Upheld Upheld Uphold Rate Total

6 0 23 19 8 8 50% 64

Notes Complaints Remedied

Our uphold rate is calculated in relation to the total number of detailed investigations.

The number of remedied complaints may not equal the number of upheld complaints.
This is because, while we may uphold a complaint because we find fault, we may not
always find grounds to say that fault caused injustice that ought to be remedied.

by LGO
Satisfactorily by

Authority before LGO
Involvement

6 2

P
age 121



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

S:\CommissioningExecutive\Jane Burns\Cabinet and Committee Reports\Audit & Governance Code of 
Conduct 6 October 2017

Audit and Governance Committee

MEMBER CODE OF CONDUCT REVIEW

Date: 12 October 2018                                      Agenda No:

Title of Report Member Code of Conduct Review

Purpose of Report To remind the Committee of the statutory arrangements 
governing the conduct of elected members.

Recommendations: To note the report and to indicate any areas for 
development.

Officer(s) Contact: Jane Burns, Director Strategy and Challenge and 
Monitoring Officer, jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk 
01452 328472

Key Risks: Failure in corporate governance, which leads to service, 
financial or reputational damage or failure.

Page 123

Agenda Item 11

mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk


2

S:\CommissioningExecutive\Jane Burns\Cabinet and Committee Reports\Audit & Governance Code of 
Conduct 6 October 2017

Introduction

1. The Localism Act 2011 significantly amended the statutory arrangements 
governing the conduct of elected members. The County Council adopted a 
new regime in 2012. This covered:

 Code of Conduct for Members and Co-opted Members;
 A new Register of Interests form;
 A procedure for investigating and determining allegations of member 

misconduct;
 The abolition of the former Standards and Audit Committees and the 

creation of the Audit and Governance Committee;
 The creation of a Hearings Panel;
 The appointment of three Independent Persons to consult on allegations of 

member misconduct.

2. One of the roles of this Committee is to monitor the operation of the Code of 
Conduct and to promote, monitor and assist the achievement of high 
standards of conduct. To assist the Committee, I have undertaken an 
annual review as the Council’s Monitoring Officer.

Findings

3. The standards regime remains unchanged following the May 2017 County 
Council elections.  

4. All 53 Members completed the Register of Interests forms in May 2017 and 
all Members have been reminded to keep them up-dated as and when 
changes occur. They are published on the County Council’s website. In 
addition, this year I have provided three training sessions on Member 
Standards and Conduct which have been reasonably well attended and 
received.

5. The arrangements for dealing with allegations of Member misconduct are 
also published on the website and appended here for ease of reference.  
(Appendix 1)

6. There has been no reason to convene the Hearings Panel in 2017/18.

7. When complaints are received, it is the Monitoring Officer’s role to review the 
substance and decide if it warrants a full investigation.  This is done against a 
set of relevant questions in consultation with an Independent Person.

8. No dispensations were requested.

9. One of the Independent Persons stood down in 2017.  At the County 
Council meeting on 17 May 2017, the remaining two Independent Persons 
were re-appointed for a further four years. I meet with the Independent 
Persons. They remain content with the new arrangements and have not 
raised any issues or concerns.  They carry out their role without 
remuneration.  Their advice and input is invaluable.

Page 124



3

S:\CommissioningExecutive\Jane Burns\Cabinet and Committee Reports\Audit & Governance Code of 
Conduct 6 October 2017

10. The Committee on Standards in Public Life is reviewing local government 
ethical standards.  Members of this Committee reviewed the current 
arrangements and agreed the Council’s response to the consultation on 6 
April 2018.  The Committee on Standards in Public Life’s report is 
expected by Christmas. A further update will be brought in due course.

Dispensations

11. The rules allow councils in certain circumstances to grant dispensations to 
permit a member to take part in the business of the authority even if the 
member has a disclosable pecuniary interest relating to that business. This 
committee has the facility to grant dispensations. To date no requests have 
been made. The Committee is reminded that its terms of reference include:

To grant dispensations to County Councillors and co-opted Members 
related to interests specified in the Code of Conduct for Members 
following written requests to the proper officer (Chief Executive) by a 
Member or Co-opted Member under section 33 of the Localism Act 2011, 
when the Council:

a) considers that without the dispensation, the number of persons 
prohibited by section 31(4) from participating in any particular 
business would be so great a proportion of the body transacting the 
business as to impede the transaction of the business;

b) considers that without the dispensation the representation of different 
political groups on the body transacting any particular business would 
be upset as to alter the likely outcome of any vote relating to the 
business;

c) considers that granting the dispensation is in the interests of persons 
living in the authority’s area;

d) considers that without the dispensation each member of the 
authority’s executive would be prohibited by section 31(4) from 
participating in any particular business to be transacted by the 
authority’s executive, or

e) considers that it is otherwise appropriate to grant a dispensation.

12. The Committee’s views are welcomed on whether dispensations would 
be useful.

Page 125



This page is intentionally left blank



Arrangements for Dealing with Allegations of Member Misconduct  
Under the Localism Act 2011: Gloucestershire County Council 

 
Statutory Position 
 
The Localism Act 2011 places a general duty on Local Authorities to ensure that high 
standards of Member and co-opted Member conduct are maintained and 
demonstrated to the public. As part of this, it requires councils to have a procedure in 
place to investigate and determine allegations that Members have breached the 
Council’s Code of Conduct for Members; this must involve seeking the opinion of an 
Independent Person before any decision is taken.  
 
Allegations are commonly referred to as complaints. 
 
Gloucestershire County Council has responded to these requirements by introducing 
a new councillor complaints procedure with clearly defined responsibilities for 
Independent Persons. Its arrangements are set out below: 
 
Definition of an allegation of misconduct against Councillors: a complaint made 
against a Member or Co-opted Member of the Council alleging that they have broken 
the Council’s Code of Conduct for Members. Complaints can be made by anyone. 
Note: the Members’ Code of Conduct is available on the Council’s website and also 
on request in paper form from Shire Hall. 
 
Role of the Monitoring Officer: a senior officer with a statutory responsibility for 
maintaining the Members’ Register of Interests, and a non-statutory responsibility to 
administer the Council’s complaints procedures against Councillors. 
 
Role of the Independent Person: an Independent Person whose view is sought by 
the Monitoring Officer to determine if an allegation of misconduct warrants a full 
investigation, and whose view is sought by the Hearings Panel to determine if a 
member has broken the Council’s Code of Conduct. Note: the Council has appointed 
three Independent Persons and given them different responsibilities in this process.  
 
Role of the Investigating Officer: to conduct an impartial investigation into an 
allegation of Member misconduct on the referral of the Monitoring Officer. This role 
can be taken on by a senior officer or external person. 
 
Role of the Hearings Panel: to hear allegations of Member misconduct once the 
Investigating Officer has concluded that there is evidence of misconduct and the 
Monitoring Officer has been unable to resolve the matter through local resolution. To 
determine if a Member has engaged in misconduct and take sanctioning actions if 
required. The Hearings Panel is a sub-committee of the Audit and Governance 
Committee. It is comprised of 5 politically proportionate County Councillors. 
 
Stage 1: Initial Assessment of Complaint 
 

 The Monitoring Officer (MO) receives a complaint or allegation that a Member 
of the Council has broken the Council’s Code of Conduct.    

Page 127



Criteria for Determining if Allegations Warrant Full Investigations 
 

Q1. Has the complainant submitted enough information to satisfy the MO and/or 
Hearings Panel that the complaint should be referred for investigation? 
If no, no further action will be taken. 

Q2. Has the complaint already been the subject of an investigation or other 
action by the County Council or another regulatory authority? 
If yes, it is likely that no other action will be taken unless there is a clear 
interest in doing so. 

Q3. Is the complaint about something that happened so long ago there would be 
little benefit in taking action today? 
If yes, it is unlikely that any further action will be taken. 

Q4. Is the complaint too trivial to warrant further action? 
If yes, no further action will be taken. 

Q5. Does the complaint appear to be malicious, politically motivated or tit for 
tat? 
If yes, it is unlikely that any further action will be taken. 

Q6. Was the complaint made anonymously? 
If yes, it is unlikely that any further action will be taken.  

Q7. Would an investigation serve any public benefit? 
If no, an investigation is unlikely but other appropriate actions may be 
considered.  

Actions Available to the Monitoring Officer at this stage 
 

1. The complaint could be rejected with reasons. 
2. The complaint could be judged to have merit. Once this decision has been 

made there are three further options available to the MO.  
a)  If there appears to be criminal misconduct, the MO will refer the case to 

the Police. 
b) The MO can attempt to resolve the complaint informally by getting the 

Member to acknowledge that their conduct was unacceptable and 
apologise, or engage in other remedial actions on behalf of the authority. 

c) The MO can appoint an Investigating Officer to fully investigate the 
complaint. 
Note: though there is no right of appeal, both complainant and the subject 
of the complaint can make representations to the MO if they disagree with 
the decision. 

 The MO will send an acknowledgement of receipt within 5 working days and 
take a decision as to its substance within 14 working days. If these timescales 
look likely to be missed, the MO will let the complainant know.  

 It is the MOs role to review the substance of the complaint and any supporting 
material and decide if the complaint warrants a full investigation. This is done 
against a set of relevant questions in consultation with an Independent 
Person. 

 
 After reviewing the complaint, the MO could write to the complainant 

requesting additional information and at this stage could also contact the 
Member being complained about for information.   

 Once the initial assessment is complete, the MO will write to the complainant 
to inform them of their decision and give reasons for it.  

Page 128



Actions Available to the Monitoring Officer at this stage 
 

1. The MO can ask the IO to reconsider their report if not satisfied the 
investigation was conducted properly. 

2. If the report concluded that there was no evidence of misconduct, the MO 
can write to the complainant and the Member concerned to say that the 
investigation has concluded and that no further action will be taken. 

3. If the report concluded that there is evidence of a breach of the Code, the 
MO can suggest that a local resolution is sought.  

4. If the report concluded that there is evidence of a breach of the Code, the 
MO can refer the matter for local hearing before the Hearings Panel.   

Stage 2: Investigation by Investigative Officer 
 

 If the MO decides that the complaint has merit and local resolution either fails 
or is not appropriate, the MO will appoint an Investigating Officer, (IO), (likely 
another senior officer or external person), to conduct a thorough and full 
investigation of the complaint.  

 At this stage, the IO will write to the Member being complained about to 
provide them with a copy of the complaint in writing, and ask them if they 
would like to offer their explanation of events and provide any supporting 
material. Note: unless there is a valid reason not to do so, the Member will be 
told the identity of the complainant.  

 The Member who has been accused of misconduct can request the view of an 
Independent Person. Note: the Council has decided that this will be an 
Independent Person not involved in the decision to investigate the complaint.  

 At this stage, the IO has discretion to decide if they need to speak directly to 
the complainant for further clarity as to the nature and circumstances of the 
complaint and any additional information. 

 Consideration of written materials and scheduled interviews are the main 
methods of investigation available to the IO. 

 After concluding the investigation, the IO will produce a draft report with 
conclusions that will be circulated in confidence to the complainant and the 
Member for comment. Both will have the opportunity to identify elements 
within the report that they disagree with and believe require further 
consideration.  

 After taking any comments into account, the IO will send a final report to the 
MO stating: agreed facts; facts not agreed and corresponding conflicting 
evidence; and a conclusion as to if there has been a breach in the Code. 

 The MO will consider the report and take a decision as to if the matter 
requires further consideration or not. 

 
Stage 3: Local Resolution or Referral to the Hearings Panel 
 

 If the MO believes that the matter can be solved through local resolution, a 
consultation process will begin with the complainant and the Independent 
Person to try and determine what fair resolution/restitution would be. This 
could include the Member accepting that their conduct was unacceptable and 
apologising or other actions taken on behalf of the authority.  

Page 129



Delegated Powers Available to the Hearing Panel for Sanctioning Purposes 
 

a) Censure; 
b) Report to Council; 
c) Recommend actions to the Leader of the Council; 
d) Recommend actions to Group Leader; 
e) Removal from Outside Bodies; 
f) Withdrawal of facilities, such as Council email/website/internet access; 
g) Exclusion for the Council offices or other premises with the exception of 

meeting rooms as necessary for attending Council, Committees or Sub-
Committees and/or nominating a single point of contact; and/or 

h) Requesting the Member to undertake actions deemed appropriate e.g. 
training, issue of an apology 

 If an agreement can be reached with the complainant that the Member is 
happy to comply with, the MO will report the matter to the Audit and 
Governance Committee for information but no further action will be taken. If 
the Member refuses, the matter will be referred to the Hearings Panel.   

 If no agreement can be reached with the complainant, the Monitoring Officer 
may, but does not have to, refer the matter to the Hearings Panel.  

 Once a matter is referred to the Hearings Panel, the MO will provide the Panel 
with the IO’s report and a hearing will taken place to determine if the Member 
has breached the Code of Conduct for Members.  

 Opportunities for representations by the IO, complainant, Member and their 
witnesses will be given before any decision is made.  

 Another Independent Person not involved in the decision to investigate the 
allegation, will be consulted for their view before any decision is made. 

 If after consulting the Independent Person the Panel decides that the Member 
did not breach the Code of Conduct, no further action will be taken and all 
parties will be informed. Note: while representations can be made by the 
complainant, there is no automatic right of review.  

 If the Panel decides the Member did breach the Code, the second 
Independent Person will be consulted on possible sanctions and the Member 
will be given the opportunity to make representations on their own behalf.  
 

 
 Once the Hearing is concluded, the Monitoring Officer shall prepare a formal 

decision notice in consultation with the Chair of the Hearings Panel and send 
copies to the complainant and Member concerned. The decision notice will 
also be made available for public inspection and reported to the next 
convenient meeting of the Council.  

Page 130



Document is Restricted

Page 131

Agenda Item 13
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 7a of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 133

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 7a of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Jul 18

	4 Grant Thornton External Audit Progress Report
	5 Grant Thornton Annual Audit Letter
	6 Internal Audit Report & Action Plan - GFRS
	7 Internal Audit Activity Progress Report 2018/19
	Progress Report on Internal Audit Activity v1.4
	Spreadsheet v1.2

	8 Treasury Management Update Report
	9 Management Update Report on IT Disaster Recovery
	10 Local Government Ombudsman Annual Review Letter 2017/18
	Gloucestershire County Council GLO Annual letter

	11 Member Code of Conduct Review
	Arrangements for dealing with Allegations of Member Misconduct

	13 Exempt Limited Assurance Reports
	GCC Cyber Security (SAP) follow up summary para 140818 PINK PAPER


